THE EFFECTS OF VARYING INTENSITIES OF BLUE LIGHT ON THE PROLIFERATION OF HUMAN UVEAL MELANOMA CELL LINES BY USING MULTIPLE BLUE LIGHT FILTERS

By:

Sultan Aldrees, MD

Henry C. Witelson Ocular Pathology Laboratory

Department of Pathology

McGill University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

October, 2016

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research at McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

©Sultan. S Aldrees 2016

Table of contents

Table of contents	2		
Acknowledgements	4		
English Abstract	6		
French Abstract	8		
Preface and Contribution of Authors	11		
Papers and Presentations	12		
Published Papers	12		
Peer-reviewed abstracts as a first author:	13		
Peer-reviewed abstracts as a co-author:	14		
List of Abbreviations	17		
List of Figures			
LIST OF TABLES			
1 Chapter One			
1 1 Introduction	20		
1.1.1 Anatomy and physiology of the eye	20		
1.1.2 Digmonted cells of the eve			
1.1.2 Fightented cens of the eye			
1.1.4 Enidemiology			
1 1 4 1 Risk factors for developing LIM			
1 1 4 2 Clinical presentation and diagnosis of LIM			
1 1 4 3 Historiathology and UM cytoriathology	30		
1.1.4.4 UM treatment			
1.1.5 Electromagnetic radiation and the eve			
1.1.6 Ultraviolet exposure and UM			
1.1.7 The role of blue light in UM pathogenesis			
1.1.8 Current concepts regarding blue light filtering intra-ocular lenses			
1.1.9 Personalized IOLs			
1.1.10 The effect of BL on the angiogenic properties of UM			
2 Chapter Two			
2.1 Purpose			
3 Chapter Three			
3.1 Methods			
3.1.1 Cell culture			
3.1.2 Experimental setup			
3.1.3 Light filters			

	3.1.4	4 Blue light source	. 49
	3.1.5	5 Cell proliferation assay	. 49
	3.1.6	6 Human angiogenesis array	. 50
	3.	.1.6.1 Experimental setup:	. 50
	3.	.1.6.2 Quantibody [®] human angiogenesis array:	. 51
3.1		.1.6.3 Slide Scanning and data analysis:	. 53
	3.1.7	7 Statistical analysis	. 53
4	Chap	oter Four	. 55
	4.1 F	Results	. 55
	4.1.1	1 Proliferation assay	. 55
	4.1.2	2 Human angiogenesis array	. 59
5 Chapter Five		. 62	
	5.1 C	Discussion	.62
	5.2 C	Conclusion	.68

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge many people whom I met and worked with during my journey. First, I would like to thank my dear supervisor and mentor Dr. Miguel Burnier Jr. who gave me this opportunity to pursue my master's at his laboratory. His guidance and enthusiasm were the fuel that I depended on during my studies. Dr. Burnier was kind enough and gave me the opportunity to shadow him when he was seeing his patients at his clinic. I admire how he treats his patients and I have always remembered his saying "*we do not do research as an intellectual exercise, we do research because there is a patient at the end of the day*". Secondly, I would like to thank my sponsoring institution, King Saud University, for giving me such opportunity and sponsoring me for my master's degree. Without their help and support, this degree would not be possible. Dr. Mazen Hassanain, The director of the Demonstrator and Lecturer Support Unit in the College of Medicine at King Saud University, deserves to be acknowledged for his guidance and suggestions during my time at McGill University.

I would also like to thank my mentor Dr. Zorychta, our graduate studies director at the Department of Pathology, for her continuous help and support. I learned many things during the lectures and seminars given by her. Special thanks to my advisors: Dr. Hady Saheb and Dr. Claudia Martins for guiding me and spending some of their valuable time whenever I asked for revising my work and presentations.

Of course, each one of my lab colleagues deserves to be acknowledged. I spent with them two wonderful years of my life and I learned many things during this period. Dr. Patrick Logan and Dr. Pablo Zoroquiain deserve special acknowledgement. They helped me in designing my experiments and troubleshooting the problems I encountered. They were not only my lab colleagues, they were my friends and family to me. I would also like to thank our wonderful research assistant Mrs. Tiffany Porraccio for all the help she does for me or for the other lab members.

During the past two years, I met many people who left our lab to continue their education elsewhere in the world. Dr. Vasco Bravo-Filho and Dr. Natalia Vila are two wonderful people who introduced me to cell culture and they definitely deserve to be acknowledged.

Last but not least, I would like to acknowledge my family for their continuous support and encouragement. Thank you to my mother and my father who have been always available whenever I needed them. They supported me ever since the first of my life. To my wonderful wife Aljawharah, I am grateful for all of your help and support. Thank you and to our son Ahmad, you both bring joy to my life.

English Abstract

Blue light (BL) exposure is considered a risk factor for the development of uveal melanoma (UM), and individuals with fair skin and light irises are at the greatest risk. Moreover, commercially available BL filtering intraocular lenses (IOLs; filter 50% of the BL spectrum) have been shown to protect against the development and progression of UM in multiple *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. However, the angiogenic effect of BL on human UM cell lines has not yet been established. This is particularly important for UM because this tumor only metastasizes hematogenously. The purpose of this study is therefore to ascertain whether filtering lesser amounts of BL (less than 50%) will maintain the protective effect against UM development in order to customize each IOL based on individualized risk. Moreover, the effect of filtering less BL on the angiogenic properties of human UM cells will be evaluated.

One human UM cells line (92.1) and one transformed uveal melanocyte cell line (UW-1) were used for all experiments. The experimental setup included a light source of 10,000 lux, infrared and ultraviolet light cut-off filters and two different commercially available BL filters of different intensities (16% and 20%). Each experiment included a control group fully exposed to the light and a condition group covered with one of the two filters. The cells were then exposed to light for 3 hours daily over a total period of 4 days. Cell number was then determined using a proliferation assay (cell counting kit-8; CCK-8) at the end of the 4-day period. A similar experimental setup was used to quantify levels of different pro-angiogenic factors secreted by the two cell lines using a multiplex sandwich-ELISA-based quantitative array.

For the 92.1 cell line, filtering 20% of BL decreased the proliferation rate significantly compared to the control group (P < 0.01). However, filtering 16% of BL was not sufficient to show this same effect. Conversely, for the UW-1 cell line, filtering 16% of BL decreased the proliferation rate significantly compared to the control group (P < 0.01). Filtering 20% of BL for 92.1 cell line and 16% for UW-1 cell line showed a non-significant decrease in the levels of various pro-angiogenic factors.

The protective effect against BL-induced proliferation of UM cell lines was demonstrated using the *in vitro* model described herein. Current commercially available IOLs filter 50% of BL. Based on ours results, the development of different BL filtering IOLs that can be prescribed according to each patient's risk of developing UM (personalized medicine) is recommended.

French Abstract

L'exposition répétée à la lumière bleue (LB) est considérée comme un facteur de risque pour le développement de mélanomes de l'uvée (MU). Ce risque est augmenté chez les individus au teint et aux iris clairs. De plus, un effet angiogénique de la LB fut établi pour des modèles cellulaires humains de MU. Ceci est d'une importance particulière étant donné que les MU métastasent par voie sanguine.

Il fut démontré dans plusieurs études *in vitro* et *in vivo* que certaines lentilles intraoculaires (LIO) commerciales ayant la capacité de filtrer 50% de la LB offrent une protection contre le développement et la progression des MU.

L'objectif de cette étude est de vérifier la possibilité de réduire le pouvoir de filtration des LIOs tout en maintenant leur effet protecteur dans un modèle cellulaire de MU. Par le fait même, la relation entre les propriétés angiogéniques de ces lignées cellulaires et la quantité de LB filtrée sera établie.

Cette étude vise à permettre le développement de lentilles ayant une capacité de filtration de LB ajustée selon les facteurs de risques de chaque individu, tel que proposé par la notion de médecine personnalisée.

Dans le cadre de ce projet, les lignées cellulaire 92.1 et UW-1, deux modèles de MU humains au pouvoir prolifératif et métastatique différents, ont été utilisées. Le design expérimental requiert une source lumineuse de 10 000 lux, des filtres infra-rouges et ultra-violets ainsi que deux filtres commerciaux ayant différents pouvoir de filtration de la LB (16% et 20%).

8

Pour chaque essai, un groupe contrôle fut complètement exposé à la lumière, tandis que les deux autres groupes étaient protégés par l'un des filtres à LB (16% et 20%). Les cellules furent quotidiennement exposées à la source lumineuse pour une période de trois heures, et cela pour quatre jours consécutifs. La prolifération cellulaire fut déterminée par un test cytotoxique (CCK-8, *Cell Counting Kit 8*) à la suite de chaque séance d'exposition à la lumière.

Le même design expérimental fût utilisé afin de quantifier les niveaux de facteurs d'angiogenèse sécrétés par chacune des lignées cellulaires. Pour ce faire, la méthode immuno-enzymatique ELISA en sandwich (*enzyme-linked Immunosorbent assay*) fût utilisée.

Les résultats suggèrent une diminution significative du taux de prolifération de la lignée 92.1 lorsque 20% de la LB est filtrée (P= <0.01). Par contre, la filtration de 16% de la LB n'est pas suffisante pour obtenir un effet semblable. Inversement, la filtration de 16% de la LB démontre un ralentissement significatif de la prolifération cellulaire pour la lignée UW-1 en comparaison au groupe contrôle complètement exposé à la source lumineuse (P= <0.01). D'un autre côté, la filtration de 20% et 26% de la LB pour la lignée 92.1 et UW-1 respectivement entraine une diminution non-significative du niveau de facteurs d'angiogenèse.

Le modèle d'étude *in vitro* ici-décrit vient appuyer l'hypothèse que la filtration de lumière bleue entraine un effet protecteur contre la prolifération de cellules humaine de mélanome de l'uvée. À ce jour, les seules LIOs commercialement disponibles filtrent 0% ou 50% de la lumière bleue. Suite à cette étude, le

développement de LIOs avec un pouvoir de filtration de la LB adaptée selon les facteurs de risques de chaque patient est souhaitable ; mettant ainsi de l'avant une approche de médecine personnalisée tout en conférant une protection optimale minimisant les risques de cancer de l'uvée.

Preface and Contribution of Authors

This is to certify that I have conducted all the experiments described in this thesis under supervision of Dr. Miguel Burnier and the guidance of Dr. Logan, Dr. Zoroquiain, Dr. Vila and Dr. Bravo-Filho. A manuscript originating from this thesis is under preparation for submission.

Papers and Presentations

Published Papers

- 1. Aldrees S, Zoroquiain P, Alghamdi S, Logan P, Kavalec C and Burnier MN Jr. Apocrine adenocarcinoma of the eyelid. International journal of ophthalmology (IJO). 2016, 9 (7): 1086 – 1088.
- Zoroquiain P, Vila N, Bravo-Filho V, Dias AB, Sanft DM, Chen J, Galic J, Kapusta M, Mastromonaco M, Aldrees SS, Burnier J, Burnier Jr MN. Pericyte status in routinely discarded vitrectomy samples may be an early marker of diabetic retinopathy. Ophthalmic Re. 2016 July; 56(2): 79 – 84.
- 3. Zoroquiain P, Jabbour S, **Aldrees S**, Vila N, Bravo- Filho V, Logan P, Dietrich H, Burnier MN. High frequency of squamous intraepithelial neoplasia in pterygium related to low ultraviolet light exposure. Saudi J Ophthalmol. 30 (20): 113 116.
- Zoroquiain P, Faingold D, Algahmdi S, Vila N, Logan P, Sanft DM, Dias AB T, Aldrees S, Bravo-Filho V, Burnier JV, Burnier MN. Analysis of HSP90 expression is valuable in the differential diagnosis of ocular surface squamous lesions. American Journal of Clinical Pathology. 145 (3): 385 – 392.
- Aldrees SS, Zoroquiain P, Alghamdi SA, Logan PT, Callejo S, and Burnier MN Jr. Conjunctival involvement of T- cell lymphoma in a patient with mycosis fungoides. Case Reports in Ophthalmological Medicine. Vol 2016, Article ID 4786498.
- Zoroquiain P, Ganimi M, Alghamdi SA, Burnier JV, Aldrees SS and Burnier MN Jr. Traumatic iridial extrusion mimicking a conjunctival melanocytic neoplasm. Ecancermedicalscience. 2016 Feb 12; 10:620.
- Halfed D.G, Zoroquiain P, Wood H.A, Blanco P, Al-Saati N, Aldrees S, Bravo-Filho V, Burnier M.N. SIRT2 expression is higher in uveal melanoma than in ocular melanocytes. Ocul Oncol Pathol. 2016; 2:100 -104.
- 8. Qutub MF, Zoroquiain P, Maloney SC, **Aldrees SS**, Burnier MJr. Toll-like receptor 3 is expressed in all layers of the human sensory retina and retinal pigment epithelium. J Ophthalmic Pathol. 4:4.
- Alghamdi SA, Zoroquiain P, Diaz AB, Alhumaid SR, Aldrees S, Burnier MN Jr. Diagnostic value of SOX-10 immunohistochemical staining for the detection of uveal melanoma. Ecancermedicalscience. 2015 Aug 20; 9:566.

- Zoroquiain P, Aldrees S, Logan P, Alkharashi M, Toledo Diaz AB, Alghamdi S, Burnier MN Jr. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor is expressed in retinoblastoma. J Clin Exp Pathol. June; 5:231.
- Aldrees SS, Zoroquiain P, Logan P, Vila N, Bravo-Filho V, Qutub MF, Kavalec C, Burnier MN Jr. Superficial epithelioma with sebaceous differentiation involving the eyelid: a case report. Journal of Medical Case Reports. 2014 Dec 29; 8:466.
- 12. Alotaibi A, **Aldrees SS**, Mousa AA. Long-term visual outcomes in laser treated threshold retinopathy of prematurity in Central Saudi Arabia. Saudi Journal of Ophthalmology. 2012; 26(3): 299-303.

Peer-reviewed abstracts as a first author:

- Sultan Aldrees, Pablo Zoroquiain, Christina Mastromonaco, Nabil Saheb and Miguel N Burnier Jr. Trabecular meshwork distortion in pseudophakic eyes. Canadian Ophthalmological Society (COS) annual meeting. Ottawa, ON, June 18 - 20; Juried poster presentation
- 2. **Sultan Aldrees**, Pablo Zoroquiain, Patrick Logan, Vasco Bravo-Filho, Jacqueline Coblentz and Miguel Burnier Jr. The effect of varying intensities of blue light on the proliferation of human uveal melanoma cell lines. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Seattle, Washington, May 1- 5; Juried Poster Presentation
- Sultan Aldrees, Pablo Zoroquiain, Beatriz Nugent Da Cunha, Adel Helmi and Miguel N Burnier Jr. Clinicopathological findings in peri-ocular basal cell carcinoma: a 16-year experience. World Ophthalmology Congress 2016, Guadalajara, Mexico, Feb 5 – 9 2016; Juried poster presentation.
- Sultan Aldrees, Pablo Zoroquiain, Sarah Alghamdi, Patrick Logan, Ana Beatriz Toledo Dias and Miguel N Burnier Jr. SOX-10 is highly expressed in uveal melanoma and retinoblastoma. World Ophthalmology Congress 2016, Guadalajara, Mexico, Feb 5 – 9 2016; Juried poster presentation.
- Sultan Aldrees, Juliana Passos, Pablo Zoroquiain, Christina Mastromonaco, Sarah Alghamdi, Miguel N. Burnier Jr. Sirtuin 2 expression in uveal melanoma correlates with metastasis in an animal model. The 21st annual meeting of Vision Health Reseach Network. Quebec City, Quebec, Canada. Nove 6th; Juried poster presentation

- Sultan Aldrees, Pablo Zoroquiain, Mohammed Qutub, Sara Alghamdi, Taylor Nayman and Miguel N Burnier Jr. Gonadotropin releasing hormone receptor is expressed in retinoblastomas and a retinoblastoma cell line. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Denver, Colorado, May 3-7; Juried Poster Presentation
- Sultan Aldrees, Pablo Zoroquiain, Dana Fangold, Patrick Logan, Vasco-Bravo Filho and Miguel Burnier Jr. Elevated HSP90 expression correlates with ocular surface squamous neoplasia (OSSN) malignancy. Cancer Axis Research Day, Royal Victoria Hospital, Montreal, Canada, Nov 7th; Juried Poster Presentation
- 8. **Sultan Aldrees**, Pablo Zoroquiain, Francisco Ceballos, Helena Dietrich, Patrick Logan, Vasco-Bravo Filho, Miguel Burnier Jr. High incidence of squamous intraepithelial neoplasia in pinguecula and pterygium related to low ultraviolet exposure area. Finlayson Research Day, Department of Pathology, McGill University, Montreal, Canada , June 13th; Juried Poster Presentation
- 9. Sultan Aldrees, Abdullah Al-Otaibi, Ahmed Mousa. Long-term visual outcomes in laser treated threshold retinopathy of prematurity in Central Saudi Arabia. World Ophthalmology Congress, Abu Dhabi Feb 16 20 ; Oral Presentation

Peer-reviewed abstracts as a co-author:

- Patrick Logan, Pablo Zoroquiain, Sultan Aldrees, Mohammed Qutub, Natalia Vila and Miguel Burnier Jr. Assessment of the activity of different AU-011 doses in a xenograft uveal melanoma animal model. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Seattle, Washington, May 1- 5; Juried Poster Presentation
- Taylor Nayman, Debra Meghan Sanft, Rafaela Amade, Sultan Aldrees, Evangelina Esposito, Miguel N. Burnier. C-Kit Expression in an Animal Model of Uveal Melanoma Mirrors That of Humans. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Seattle, Washington, May 1- 5; Juried Poster Presentation
- 3. Matthew Balazsi, **Sultan Aldrees**, Pablo Zoroquiain, Christina Mastromonaco, Miguel N. Burnier. How to Automatically Grade posterior capsular opacification in post-mortem eyes. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Seattle, Washington, May 1- 5; Juried Poster Presentation

- Marcelo Sobrinho, Sultan Aldrees, Pablo Zoroquiain, Patrick Logan, Ana Beatriz T. Dias, Miguel N. Burnier. Immunohistochemical profile of keratoconic corneas. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Seattle, Washington, May 1- 5; Juried Poster Presentation
- Pablo Zoroquiain, Ana Beatriz T. Dias, Patrick Logan, Sultan Aldrees, Evangelina Esposito, Miguel N. Burnier. Programmed cell death ligand 1 expression in uveal melanoma is associated with better patient outcome. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Seattle, Washington, May 1- 5; Juried Poster Presentation
- Luiza Neves, Vinicius Lima, Sultan Aldrees, Jacqueline Coblentz, Silvin Bakalian, Miguel N. Burnier. Spleen tyrosine kinase as a proto-oncogene in uveal melanoma. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Seattle, Washington, May 1- 5; Juried Poster Presentation
- Marcela Bohn, Christina Mastromonaco, Patrick Logan, Ana Beatriz T. Dias, Sultan Aldrees, Miguel N. Burnier. Spleen tyrosine kinase as an ultra violet damage marker in the conjunctiva and choroid of normal human eyes and eyes harboring uveal melanoma. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Seattle, Washington, May 1- 5; Juried Poster Presentation
- Pablo Zoroquiain, Sultan Aldrees, Mohammed Qutub, Patrick Logan, Leonardo Dias, Miguel N Burnier. Malignant Apocrine Tumors of the Eyelid in a Review of 5,453 Specimens. The United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology (USCAP), Seattle, Washington State, March 13 -1; Juried poster presentation
- 9. Mohammad Qutub, **Sultan Aldrees**, Natalia Vila, Michael Kapusta, John Chen and Miguel Burnier Jr. Pericyte loss in vitrectomy samples is a sensitive and specific marker for diabetic retinopathy. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Denver, Colorado, May 3-7; Oral Presentation
- Patrick Logan, Sultan Aldrees, Mohammad Qutub, Natalia Vila, Vasco Bravo-Filho and Miguel Burnier Jr. Evaluating the in-vivo efficacy of a novel first in class drug for the treatment of primary uveal melanoma. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Denver, Colorado, May 3-7; Oral Presentation

- 11. Vasco Bravo-Filho, Patrick Logan, Sultan Aldrees, Natalia Vila, Ayman Oweida and Miguel Burnier Jr. Effects of ranibizumab and amfenac on the functional abilities of uveal melanoma cells. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Denver, Colorado, May 3-7; Juried Poster Presentation
- 12. Dominique Fausto de Souza, Sultan Aldrees, Mohammad Qutub, Sarah Alghamdi, Ana Beatriz Dias and Miguel Burnier Jr. The effects of acetylsalicylic acid as an anti-tumor agent in a metastatic ocular melanoma cell line. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Denver, Colorado, May 3-7; Juried Poster Presentation
- 13. Tania Borges, Taylor Nayman, Ana Beatriz T.Dias, Sultan Aldrees, Beatriz Nugent da Cunha and Miguel Burnier Jr. Topographical distribution of ocular vascular lesions: a 20-year study. The Association of Research and Vision in Ophthalmology (ARVO). Denver, Colorado, May 3-7; Juried Poster Presentation
- 14. Natalia Vila, Vasco Bravo Filho, Pablo Zoroquiain, Mohammed Qutub, Sultan Aldrees, Crisitina Miyamoto and Miguel N. Burnier Jr. Intraocular and CNS lymphoma: are they the same disease? Joint Meeting of International Uveitis Study Group (IUSG) and Sociedad Panamericana de Enfermedades Inflamatorias Oculares (SPEIO) at the American Academy of Ophthalmology (AAO), Chicago IL, Oct 19th; Oral Presentation
- 15. Crisitina Miyamoto, Vasco Bravo Filho, Pablo Zoroquiain, Natalia Vila, Mohammed Qutub, Sultan Aldrees and Miguel N. Burnier Jr. Immunohistopathology of VKH. Joint Meeting of International Uveitis Study Group (IUSG) and Sociedad Panamericana de Enfermedades Inflamatorias Oculares (SPEIO) at the American Academy of Ophthalmology (AAO), Chicago IL, Oct 19th; Oral Presentation
- 16. Mohammed Qutub, Vasco Bravo Filho, Pablo Zoroquiain, Natalia Vila, Sultan Aldrees, Christina Miyamoto and Miguel N. Burnier Jr. Ocular Toxoplasmosis: A very unusual case Joint Meeting International of Uveitis Study Group (IUSG) and Sociedad Panamericana de Enfermedades Inflamatorias Oculares (SPEIO) at the American Academy of Ophthalmology (AAO), Chicago IL, Oct 19th; Oral Presentation

List of Abbreviations

UM	Uveal melanoma
BL	Blue light
PE	pigmented epithelium
AMD	Age related macular degeneration
PCNA	Proliferating cellular nuclear antigen
UV	Ultra-violet
RPE	Retinal pigmented epithelium
IOL	Intra-ocular lens
CCK-8	Cell-counting kit-8
OD	Optical density
PMMA	Polymethyle methacrylate
PET	Polyethylene terephthalate
PC	Polycarbonate
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
ANG-2	Angiopoietin-2
b-FGF	Basic fibroblastic growth factor
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
HB-EGF	Heparin binding EGF-like growth factor
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor
PDGF-BB	Platelet derived growth factor subtype BB
PIGF	placental growth factor

List of Figures

Figure 1. A cross-sectional diagram of the eye.

Figure 2. Enucleation specimen of an eye with UM.

Figure 3. Histopathological pictures of UM showing the main subtypes with their characteristic cytological features.

Figure 4. The transmission curves of the BL filters used for our experiments.

Figure 5. The experimental setup during cell exposure to light.

Figure 6. Box and whisker plot showing the average absorbance (OD) for the 92.1 cell line after light exposure and filtering 20% and 16% of BL by using the cell counting kit-8 (CCK-8) proliferation assay.

Figure 7. Box and whisker plot showing the average absorbance (OD) for the UW-1 cell line after light exposure and filtering 16% of BL by using the cell counting kit-8 (CCK-8) proliferation assay.

Figure 8. The levels of the different pro-angiogenic factors detected in the media of the 92.1 cell line after both exposure to light and filtering 20% of BL.

Figure 9. The levels of the different pro-angiogenic factors detected in the media of the UW-1 cell line after both exposure to light and filtering 16% of BL.

List of Tables

Table. 1: Transmission characteristics for BL at 450 nm of the filters used during our experiments.

Table. 2: The effect of BL filtering on the proliferation rates of the 92.1 and the UW-1 cell lines.

1 Chapter One

1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 Anatomy and physiology of the eye

"The eyes are the window to the soul." Although the origin of this saying is not known, it clearly describes that our eyes have other important functions and are not merely responsible for the perception of vision. Through our eyes, we can navigate, avoid danger and see the beauty of the world. In addition, the eye has complex interactions with the brain and is an important part of our overall psychological status. For example, different personality traits, such as curiosity, can be predicted from eye movements (1). Moreover, people with visual impairment are associated with higher levels of depression (2). This elaborates the role of eyes and vision as an important part of the human body system.

Although the eye is relatively small in size, it is structurally complex and consists of many different layers and components that serve different functions. The eye is located in the anterior part of the orbit and is surrounded by muscles and connective tissue. The optic nerve connects the back of the eye to the brain and is responsible for transmitting visual information through electrical impulses to the brain. It is formed by the axons of the retinal ganglion cell layer and glial cells in the retina. Six extraocular muscles are attached to the eye: four recti and two oblique muscles. Through their different origins and insertion points, these extra-ocular muscles are responsible for complex eye movements. The eye itself is made mainly of three layers: an outer fibrous coating layer that is formed by two structures, the transparent cornea in the front and a whitish fibrous sclera that connects with the cornea at the corneo-scleral limbus. The middle layer is a vascular layer that is comprised of the iris, ciliary body and the choroid. Finally, the innermost layer is the sensory part of the eye called the retina.

The cornea is an elliptical, transparent, multi-layer and avascular structure, which allows the passage of light. Attached to this transparent cornea at the corneo-scleral limbus is the whitish fibrous sclera. It is the whitish structure that we notice when we look at someone's eyes. The scleral fibers are oriented parallel to the surface of the eye and cross each other in all directions in order to provide maximum strength and to protect against minor traumatic injuries. Covering the anterior part of the sclera is the bulbar part of the conjunctiva. This is a semi-transparent, thin and vascularized structure made of stratified, non-keratinizing, columno-squamous epithelium resting on a fibrovascular substantia propria. This bulbar conjunctiva is reflected to form the palpebral conjunctiva that is tightly attached to the inner side of the eyelid. At the eyelid margin, the nonkeratinized squamous epithelium turns into a keratinized squamous epithelium that is continuous with the skin of the eyelid. The function of the conjunctiva is to provide nutrients to the ocular structures and to fight infections through its blood supply. Moreover, it contains goblet cells that secrete mucin, which stabilizes the tear film and helps in lubricating the eye. The inner layer of the eye is formed by the retina and is responsible for converting visual inputs into electrical impulses that reach the brain through the optic nerve.

The uvea, or uveal tract, is located between the sclera and the retina. It is highly vascularized and consists of three main structures that are continuous with each other: the iris, the ciliary body and choroid. The iris is a muscular structure that lies behind the

cornea and is separated from it by a fluid filled space, the anterior chamber. It has a central hole called the pupil, which permits fluid exchange between the anterior chamber and the posterior chamber, which is located behind the iris. The pupil also contracts and dilates to control the amount of light entering to the back of the eye. The ciliary body is another muscular structure and is situated between the iris and the choroid. It is attached anteriorly to the root of the iris. Moreover, it has multiple projections on the inner surface behind the iris forming the ciliary processes that hold the lens in place by suspensory (zonular) ligaments. Covering these highly vascularized ciliary processes is the ciliary epithelium responsible for secreting aqueous humor, a fluid that fills both the anterior and posterior chambers. With its contractile ability, the ciliary body loosens the suspensory ligaments that are attached to the bi-convex lens, which will increase the curvature of its anterior surface and thereby altering its focusing power via a process called accommodation. Continuous with the ciliary body posteriorly is a highly vascularized connective tissue structure called the choroid. It consists of a thin layer of small vessels and is located between the sclera and the retina. Its major function is to provide nutrients to the outer part of the retina, mainly through the fine network of vessels in its inner part. Figure 1 shows the most important structures of the eye.



Figure 1. Anatomy of the human eye. A cross-section of the eye showing the most important internal and external structures (3).

1.1.2 Pigmented cells of the eye

There are two different types of pigmented cells in the eye, both of which contain melanin pigment in organelles called melanosomes. The first type is the melanocytes, which can be found mainly in the conjunctiva, iris, ciliary body and the choroid. They originate from the neural crest from melanoblasts. Melanoblasts migrate from the neural crest to their final destination in the eye before transforming into melanocytes (4-6). Melanomas, including uveal melanoma (UM), arise from these cells.

The other type of melanin-containing cells is the pigmented epithelium (PE), which can be found in the iris, ciliary body and the retina. These pigmented epithelial cells originate from the pigmented layer of the optic vesicle as early as 22 days of gestation (5-8). Both melanin containing cell types function mainly as photoprotective agents against light induced damage by absorbing light at all wavelengths, specifically at higher frequencies (4). Besides providing a protective effect via melanin, the PE serves multiple functions according to location. For instance, in the iris the PE can help dilate the pupil, while in the choroid it secretes the aqueous humor, which is aided by the underlying heavy vasculature (9). In the retina, the PE has important functions such as: ion transportation, phagocytosis of the outer segment membrane of the photoreceptors that undergo continuous destruction by photo-oxidative damage, isolating the inside of the eye from the immune system (immune privilege of the eye) and the secretion of various growth factors that play important role for the function of photoreceptors (10, 11).

Both cell types appear morphologically distinct: melanocytes have dendrites and contain melanin granules of varying sizes and numbers (12). On the other hand, PE cells are cuboidal in shape and contain large melanin granules (7). Another important difference between the two cellular types is the pigment distribution in the choroid versus the retinal-pigmented epithelium (RPE). In the choroid, melanin pigments in melanocytes increase in concentration from the periphery to the posterior pole of the eye. However, in the RPE melanin pigments distribution increase in concentration from the periphery to the posterior pole of the posterior pole towards the periphery of the eye (4). Interestingly, both cellular types show decreasing levels of melanin content with age (4, 13). This makes ocular pigmentation more important than skin pigmentation, as this process is not renewable in the eye (4).

1.1.3 Uveal Melanoma

UM is a malignant melanocytic tumor that develops in any of the three structures that constitute that uveal tract; however, it is far more common in the choroid (>86%) than the ciliary body or the iris (14). It is the most common primary intraocular malignancy in adults. Figure 2 shows a cross section of an enucleated eye having UM.

1.1.4 Epidemiology

UM represents around 3%–5% of all cases reported as melanoma (14-16). Most cases of UM arise in the choroid compared to the iris or the ciliary body (14-16). In Australia, the incidence of ocular melanoma appeared to be higher than reported in North America or Europe (17). This can be attributed to the fact that this study included all clinically diagnosed cases, which can artificially inflate this number as invariably there will be a small number of misdiagnoses, and likely not a result of any actual increased incidence (17).

UM occurs slightly more frequently in males with a median age at diagnosis of 62 years (14, 15). In 2001, Singh *el al.* reported a higher age adjusted incidence in males compared to females (5.8 versus 4.4 cases per million); however, the overall age adjusted incidence is reported to be 5.1 cases per million (15). Despite this relatively low incidence and despite the advances in the treatment of this type of cancer, the 5-year relative survival rate remained unchanged (81.6%) from 1973 to 2008 (15).



Figure 2. Uveal melanoma. Enucleation specimen showing a dome-shaped choroidal melanocytic tumor (arrow) underlying the retina.

1.1.4.1 Risk factors for developing UM

The pathogenesis of UM is complex and involves sophisticated interactions between host and environmental factors. Nevertheless, host factors are the most important (18). Individual studies may sometimes report contradicting results regarding the relationship between certain factors and the development of UM. However, more powerful studies using meta-analysis pool data from these individual studies to reach a more powerful conclusion. These risk factors may include: congenital ocular and oculodermal melanocytosis (known as nevus of Ota), choroidal nevi, iris nevi, light irises, fair skin, inability to tan, atypical cutaneous nevi, common cutaneous nevi and cutaneous freckles (19, 20).

In general, as is the case with cutaneous melanoma, UM is more common in Caucasians compared to black people (21).

Choroidal nevi are an interesting risk factor for UM as they are very common, occurring in 5% to 6% of the general population (22, 23). They are usually found in the posterior pole and they may appear flat or as a raised gray area; amelanosis in some cases makes the diagnosis even more difficult (7). Their importance relies on their potential to transform into choroidal melanoma. It is estimated that 1 in 8,000 choroidal nevi will transform into a melanoma, and this risk increases with age (22, 24, 25). Moreover, it is more difficult to clinically differentiate between choroidal nevi and small uveal melanomas because of their overlapping features, including tumor size, color, location and associated changes in the retina (26). Several factors indicative of malignant transformation of choroidal nevi have been combined into the useful mnemonic "to find

28

small ocular melanoma using helpful hints" (TFSOMUHH), and includes: <u>t</u>hickness greater than 2 mm, subretinal <u>f</u>luid, <u>symptoms</u>, <u>o</u>range pigment, tumor <u>m</u>argin within 3 mm of the optic disk, <u>u</u>ltrasonographic <u>h</u>ollowness of the tumor and the presence of <u>h</u>alo around the tumor (26-28). Interestingly, the risk of malignant transformation of choroidal nevi can reach up to 69% with a specific combination of these factors (28). This is particularly important for patients undergoing cataract surgery and thereby exposing preexisting nevi to the harmful effect of high-energy wavelengths of light.

1.1.4.2 Clinical presentation and diagnosis of UM

At the time of diagnosis, most UM patients are symptomatic; however, up to 30% can be asymptomatic (29). Based on the size and location of the tumor and its associated features, patients may report decreased vision, flashes, floaters or pain. For choroidal melanoma, indirect fundoscopy allows visualization of the tumor and assessing the shape and degree of pigmentation. Ultrasonographic examination using either A or B scans will help in the diagnosis. B scans will show acoustic hollowness and choroidal excavation. On the other hand, A mode sonography will show low to medium internal reflectivity with individual spikes. Ultrasonography not only determines these features but also helps measuring tumor height, which is an important prognostic factor (30). Computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging can be used to assess the associated retinal changes (26). By using fundoscopic examination with the help of the aforementioned ancillary studies, a correct diagnosis can be reached 99% of the time in most cases (31).

1.1.4.3 Histopathology and UM cytopathology

In 1931, Callender (32) proposed a system to classify UM based on histopathological and cytological characteristics. He identified two different cellular compositions: spindle and epithelioid types. Spindle cells are further divided into spindle A and spindle B cells. Both spindle cells are classified based on their nuclear features. Spindle A cells have fine and longitudinal nucleus with faint nucleolus, while spindle B cells have a coarse and well-defined nucleus and a dense nucleolus. On the other hand, epithelioid cells are usually large with well-defined nucleus and nucleolus. They also have a clear cytoplasm and a definite cell border. Moreover, they tend not to attach to each other (they lack cohesiveness). Therefore, UM was classified based on these cytological features (spindle A, spindle B, epithelioid, and mixed type) in addition to two histological features of having either a fascicular pattern growth or being predominantly necrotic. The importance of this classification is its prediction of survival where spindle A, spindle B and fascicular tumor have less metastasis and better survival than necrotic, epithelioid and mixed types. In 1983, McLean et al. (33, 34) developed a modified classification system, which is the main classification system used currently, with two groups (spindle and mixed cell types only) and found that it correlates better with survival. Figure 3 shows the most common histopathological pictures of UM with the characteristic cytological features.



Figure 3. Histopathological pictures of UM. A) Spindle-cell-type tumor. B) Mixed-type-cell tumor. (Hematoxylin and eosin; 40X)

1.1.4.4 UM treatment

The main treatment modalities for UM include brachytherapy (plaque radiotherapy), enucleation and local resection. Plaque radiotherapy (using 125-iodine radioactive plaque) is the most commonly used treatment modality for UM because of its effectiveness in treating the primary tumor while preserving the vision in some cases. It is done through fixing the radioactive plaque to the sclera overlying the tumor. The main side effects of plaque radiotherapy include radiation-induced retinopathy and optic neuropathy (35). In rare cases where the tumor is large and radiation therapy is associated with high morbidity, enucleation can be performed. In terms of survival, the Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study (COMS) found that for medium sized tumors, patients treated with brachytherapy or enucleation have similar survival rates (36). Local resection can be done in small number of cases where the tumor is small and not invading other structures. Other treatment modalities include: proton-beam radiotherapy, transpupillary thermotherapy, and laser photocoagulation.

1.1.5 Electromagnetic radiation and the eye

The electromagnetic spectrum extends to include low frequency wavelengths used in radio communications to ionizing radiation, such as gamma rays with the highest frequencies. Part of this spectrum is the visible spectrum, which ranges between 400 nm and 700 nm wavelengths. Ultraviolet (UV) rays are characterized by high-energy wavelengths shorter than 400 nm. On the other hand, infrared (IR) radiation is characterized by wavelengths longer than 700 nm. The different ocular structures have different transmission spectra for electromagnetic radiation (37). For example, the cornea absorbs most of the UV-B (280–315 nm) light, allowing UV-A (315–400 nm) to enter the eye before most of it gets absorbed by the natural crystalline lens (38-42). The ozone layer blocks UV-C; however, this type of electromagnetic radiation is becoming a health concern because of holes in the ozone layer (43).

The retina is highly oxygenated and constantly exposed to light, and this combination puts the retina under oxidative stress most of the time (44, 45). Moreover, as we increase in age, the defense mechanisms that are key components of the retina decline thereby exposing the retina to more oxidative stress leading to cellular death and a disease called age related macular degeneration (AMD) (46-48). UV rays are an essential component of our solar system; however, as mentioned previously, the cornea and the lens filter most of them (38-42). In addition to cataract formation, as we age, our natural crystalline lens develops a yellow chromophore that is capable of filtering some of short wavelengths in the visible spectrum in addition to most of the UV-A (BL, 400 nm to 500 nm) (40, 42, 49-52). This natural yellowing is caused by the interactions between lens proteins (crystallins) with the compound 3-hydroxykynurenine glucoside (53). This natural process of BL filtering continues at a rate of 0.7%–0.8%/year, amounting to 50% of BL filtering at the age of 52 and 80% by the age of 70 (54, 55). Therefore, removing the natural crystalline lens with its protective filtering properties during cataract surgery will expose the back of the eye to the harmful effect of both UV rays and violet-blue light. Thus, filtering these high-energy wavelengths is an important characteristic of the implanted intraocular lens (IOL) to avoid the associated damage to the retina (56, 57). The association between UV retinal damage and transparent non-UV blocking IOLs was reported as early as 1978 and UV filtering IOLs were first used in the early 1980s (58, 59).

1.1.6 Ultraviolet exposure and UM

Both cutaneous and uveal melanocytes arise from melanoblasts, which come from the neural crest during embryogenesis (60). Therefore, both share a common histopathologic and immunogenic profile (60, 61). As a result, a common phenotypic pattern exists (fair skin, light iris and inability to tan) that increases the risk of both malignant cutaneous melanoma and UM (60). Moreover, there is strong evidence suggesting the role of UV (10–400 nm wavelength) exposure and the pathogenesis of cutaneous melanoma (19, 20, 62, 63). This risk is higher in patients with a history of early, high and intermittent UV exposure during childhood (64, 65). Interestingly, despite the strong association between UV and cutaneous melanoma, the role of UV in the pathogenesis of UM is inconclusive (19, 20, 66).

Li and colleagues (67) studied tumor initiation related to retinal topography and found that it is not uniformly distributed: there are higher rates of UM in the macular area. The rate decreased as they moved away from the macular area (high light exposure area) towards the ciliary body (low light exposure area). Accordingly, this distribution was consistent with the dose distribution of solar light perceived by the retina; thus, the authors stated that solar radiation in the form of both UV and visible light played a role in the pathogenesis of UM. Moreover, in Australia, ocular sun exposure was found to be an independent risk factor for both choroidal and ciliary body melanomas (68). Although this association was strongest with early age exposure, the authors recommended that UV filtering through close-fitting sunglasses should also be considered for older people. Interestingly, this association was not found in iris or conjunctival melanoma, which are the sites of highest UV exposure. Similarly, in the United States, people who were born in the southern part of the country have a higher incidence of UM than people born in the northern areas (69). The authors hence attributed latitude difference and UV exposure as a risk factor for developing UM.

On the other hand, Schwartz and co-workers (70) in 1997 demonstrated a lack of association between UV exposure and the development of choroidal melanoma. They commented that UV-B and UV-C are not transmitted through the eye and that UV-A is mostly filtered by the cornea and the lens, leading to only a small proportion reaching the posterior pole of the eye. Moreover, if UV-A is the only factor that promotes UM development, one would expect more tumors to arise in the posterior pole of the eye than in any other choroidal location. However, this is the exact opposite result to what they found through geographical mapping of UM in 92 eyes; tumors were equally distributed throughout all quadrants of the choroid.

Other studies have found that although the incidence of non-melanoma skin cancer increases in patients diagnosed with cutaneous melanoma, this association is not found in patients with UM, which contradicts the theory of UV exposure as a risk factor for UM (71). Moreover, Shah and colleagues (66) in 2005 performed a meta-analysis and concluded that latitude of birth or frequency of outdoor leisure activities are non-significant factors for UM development. Based on the summary presented herein, it is not clear whether there is an association between UV exposure and UM; however, it is

apparent that if indeed such a link exists, it is much more complex than the relationship between cutaneous melanoma and UV.

Several genetic studies also support the lack of association between UV exposure and UM development. For example, BRAF is a proto-oncogene responsible for the formation of B-Raf molecule involved in cell signaling that, when mutated, contributes to the development of cancer (72). Mutations in BRAF gene, especially in the BRAF V600 codon, are usually detected in skin melanomas and are believed to be caused by UV exposure in addition to other mutations in low susceptibility genes (73-75). Moreover, mucosal melanomas, such as those in the mouth and vulva, regions that are not exposed to UV, do not show BRAF mutations (75). This supports the role of UV in the pathogenesis of cutaneous melanoma in sun-exposed areas but not in mucosal melanomas. Interestingly, these BRAF mutations are found in large proportion of anterior UM (iris), but to a lesser extent in choroidal melanomas (76, 77). Moreover, this mutation, if present in choroidal melanomas, will be expressed heterogeneously throughout the tumor (76). This indicates that UV exposure may have a role in anterior UM where exposure to UV light is higher, but not in choroidal melanomas, which are the most common and carry the worst prognosis.

1.1.7 The role of blue light in UM pathogenesis

As mentioned previously, it is not clear whether UV exposure has a role in the development of UM due to the fact that most of it being filtered by the anterior structures of the eye (38-42). However, other visible high-energy wavelengths, such as in the BL spectrum (400 - 500 nm), can reach the posterior of the eye and are important in this
context. Visible BL can be found everywhere including sunlight, which is characterized by a very effective radiance, making it hazardous to the retina and its underlying structures (78).

The effect of BL on the mitotic activity of UM cells has been studied both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. For instance, Marshall and colleagues in 2006 tested the effect of BL on the proliferation rate of four different human UM cell lines (92.1, MKT-BR, OCM-1 and SP6.5) (79). They concluded that BL exposure resulted in an increase in the proliferation rate of these cell lines compared to their controls, which had no light exposure. Moreover, filtering BL using a commercially available BL filtering intra-ocular lens (SN60AT, Alcon Laboratories Inc., Fort Worth, TX, USA) protected the cells and resulted in a growth rate similar to the control groups. In order to replicate human disease, Di Cesare and colleagues further confirmed these results using human UM cells (92.1) in a rabbit model (80). At the end of the experiment, the cells from the BL exposed group showed a significant higher rate of proliferation. These results illustrated the ability of BL to penetrate the eye and to reach the posterior ocular structures. All these observations link BL as a factor for UM progression and proliferation.

Although the previous two studies used human UM cells, Manning and colleagues (81) also reported a large dark mass protruding from the globe of a Long Evan's rat following long-term exposure to BL. The mass was confirmed later to be a melanoma by histopathology. This confirms the involvement of BL in the malignant transformation of normal melanocytes in rats. Moreover, meta-analyses indicate that two occupations are associated with higher incidence of UM: welding and occupational cooking. Interestingly, both studies hypothesized that high frequency visible light exposure is the

possible factor underlying this increased risk (66, 82). There is also strong evidence implicating BL-induced changes in normal melanocytes of the skin. For example, neonates with congenital problems leading to hyperbilirubinemia are usually treated with phototherapy using the BL spectrum (83, 84). Interestingly, those neonates treated with BL therapy were found to have a higher number of moles (>100) and significantly higher number of atypical nevi than normal controls (85, 86). Because atypical cutaneous nevi are well known risk factor for skin melanoma, it is recommended that children who undergo phototherapy, especially with BL, should be screened frequently (85, 86).

The exact mechanism by which BL causes an increase in the mitotic activity of UM cell lines is not fully understood. However, evidence suggests that visible light with short wavelengths may lead to an increase in mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) production by retinal pigmented epithelial cells (RPE) in culture (87). Moreover, in another *in vitro* model, an RPE cell line (ARPE-19) showed a decrease in the metabolic activity and increased levels of intracellular stress proteins and reactive oxygen species when exposed to small doses of BL stimuli (88). The mitochondria of these cells became enlarged and showed other ultra-structural changes (88). Other models have also shown that BL exposure can lead to apoptotic cell death in the RPE and photoreceptor layers (89-91). It is believed that the oxidative stress in these cells causes apoptosis (90-92). Moreover, this oxidative stress is found to be higher in the presence of intracellular photoinducible pigments, such as lipofuscin and melanin, which are key components for both RPE cells and uveal melanocytes; respectively (91, 93-95). Although further studies are needed, it seems that ROS production is an influencing factor for various cellular

processes, such as proliferation, apoptosis, and tumor genesis and progression in uveal melanocytes (96, 97).

1.1.8 Current concepts regarding blue light filtering intra-ocular lenses

As mentioned previously, BL has been found to affect RPE cells *in vitro* leading to oxidative stress and eventually their death, which is manifested clinically as AMD. As a result, BL-filtering IOLs were first introduced in the 1990s (88-91, 93, 98-102). AMD is the most common cause of blindness in developed countries, affecting approximately 12.7 million individuals in Europe and USA (103-106). Worldwide, it is estimated that more that 196 million people will have AMD by 2020 (107).

Despite all of the studies that indicate BL is a risk factor for RPE death, BL filtering IOLs and AMD remain a source of continuous arguments in the literature with respect to the potential benefits of these lenses versus their side effects (98, 108-110). Although filtering UV alone blocks the harmful effects of this spectrum on the retina, large amounts of high energy BL still be able to enter the eye and may result in a condition called cyanopsia, where the patient sees more blue than normal (111, 112). Yellow tinted lenses usually filter both UV and the violet-blue spectrum and are manufactured to have a transmission spectrum similar to the lens of a 52 year-old human (37, 108, 113, 114). Therefore, replacing the natural lens during cataract surgery with an IOL with both UV and BL-filtering properties is more physiological than implanting only a UV filtering lens.

There are different types of BL filtering IOLs currently available on the market, and all demonstrate different transmission spectra for the BL spectrum (400 nm - 500 nm) (113). For instance, AcrySoft IOLs (Alcon Laboratories, Inc.) filter around 50% of BL at the middle of the spectrum (450 nm) (108, 113, 114). On the other hand, the orange-tinted PC 440Y IOLs (Ophtec, Inc. Groningen, the Netherlands) filter around 90% of BL at 450 nm (114). Although filtering BL by these lenses confer protection, it is important to note that they may also affect photoreception leading to poor dark adaptation, circadian rhythm disturbances and abnormal color perception (113).

Under mesopic (dim but not dark conditions) situations, our spectral sensitivity curve moves toward the blue spectrum and we become more sensitive to BL, which is known as the Purkinje effect. Although clinical studies are lacking, theoretical evidence suggests filtering BL under these conditions may affect this physiological mechanism of dark adaptation (113, 115-117). Moreover, as we increase in age, our rod cells, which are responsible for dark adaptation, decrease in both number and sensitivity. This further complicates dark adaptation for the elderly who undergo cataract surgery and yellow IOL implantation (109, 118).

In addition to dark adaptation, BL is an important stimulus for melanopsin, a photopigment present in the photoreceptive retinal ganglion cells (119). Melanopsin plays an important role in photoentrainment of the circadian rhythm and thus, BL filtering may affect the sleep-wake cycle (120).

Another problem that can be encountered when filtering BL is abnormal color perception manifested clinically as "yellow vision" (121). This effect maybe exacerbated when a transparent lens is implanted in one eye and a yellow tinted lens in the other eye (121).

1.1.9 Personalized IOLs

Personalized medicine is a large and rapidly advancing approach to medicine that describes treatments or diagnostic procedures conducted based on the unique clinical, environmental and genomic characteristics of each individual patient. It is an area of medicine that looks into the patient as a whole, taking into consideration all aspect of patient health including the psychological status. It uses information from the patient's medical history, clinical features and diagnostic procedures and even involves molecular studies to characterize each patient. Therefore, personalized medicine enables disease prevention, early diagnosis and timely treatment for the patient. Despite being a new approach to healthcare, personalized medicine has proven to be safe, effective, and contributes to a lower economic burden (122).

Different patients have different risk factors for developing UM, with higher risk patients presenting with fair skin, light irises and pre-existing choroidal nevi (19, 20). On the other hand, patients with dark skin and dark irises have the lowest risk of developing UM (19, 20). Therefore, not all patients will require the 50% filtration of BL provided in the commercially available IOLs. Approaching each patient using the concept of personalized medicine is something that should be adopted in the context of preventing UM when using BL filtering IOLs. Patients at high risk of developing UM can be offered an IOL with greater BL-filtering capacity during cataract surgery to provide high protection against UM development. On the other hand, people with a low risk profile can be offered an IOL with less BL filtering to provide some protection, while avoiding the aforementioned side effects.

1.1.10 The effect of BL on the angiogenic properties of UM

Cancer cells can spread locally within an organ or metastasize to remote organs. Distant metastasis requires the formation of new blood vessels or lymph vessels leading to hematogenous or lymphatic spread, respectively. Moreover, angiogenesis is important for cancer stability, growth and to provide nutrients, oxygen and even to remove waste from the rapidly dividing cancer cells. In fact, cancer cells may undergo necrosis in the absence of vasculature (123).

Angiogenesis is very important in UM, as this type of tumor develops in a highly vascularized structure. Due to the lack of lymphatics in the eye, UM can only metastasize through the blood, and the liver is the most commons site for metastasis (124, 125). Unfortunately, up to 40% of patients diagnosed with UM will die from liver metastasis within 10 years of diagnosis (15, 126). Moreover, the mean survival rate after liver metastasis diagnosis is a paltry 2.2 months (124, 125). Despite advancements in primary tumor diagnosis and treatment, the incidence of metastasis and survival rates have remained unchanged (15, 127).

Primary UM can be eradicated using surgery or radiation; however, metastatic UM represents a challenge. If isolated hepatic metastases are found, surgical resection can double the survival rate compared to patients with residual disease (128). However, if metastatic tumor cells are distributed throughout the liver, surgical excision is impossible (129). This makes therapeutic treatments, such anti-angiogenic drugs, possible alternatives in order to improve patient survival.

In 2002, a study showed that eyes with UM had significantly higher levels of vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A; up to a 20-fold increase) in both vitreous and/or aqueous humor samples compared with controls that underwent routine cataract surgery (130). An *in vitro* model also showed that different UM cell lines synthesized and secreted VEGF-A and basic fibroblastic growth factor (b-FGF) in culture (131, 132). Other *in vitro* models also confirmed that vascular remodeling is an important step for UM metastasis, as evidenced by the synthesis and excretion of various pro-angiogenic factors, including VEGF-1 and angiopoietin-2 (ANG-2), and down regulation of anti-angiogenic compounds, such as angiopietin-1 (133, 134). Moreover, using non-immune suppressed mice, serum levels of VEGF correlated with the number and location of hepatic micrometastases (135).

The BL component of the visible spectrum is involved in UM progression and metastasis in which angiogenesis plays an important role (79, 80). However, the relationship between BL exposure and BL filtering on the synthesis and excretion of the different pro-angiogenic factors by UM cells in culture has not been studied. Nevertheless, exposing ARPE-19 cells to light has been found to increase production of VEGF and when the BL spectrum was filtered by a yellow IOL, VEGF levels decreased significantly (136-138). Therefore, studying the effects of BL on the angiogenic properties of UM cell lines might provide insight into the role of BL in the metastatic process.

2 Chapter Two

2.1 Purpose

The purpose of this study is to test the effect of filtering less than 50% of BL (at 450 nm) on the proliferation rates of one human UM cell line (92.1) and one human transformed uveal melanocyte cell line (UW-1). The secondary objective involves testing the effect of BL on the levels of the different pro-angiogenic factors excreted by these cells.

3 Chapter Three

3.1 Methods

3.1.1 Cell culture

One human UM cell line (92.1) and one transformed human uveal melanocyte cell line (UW-1) were used to test the effects of filtering different intensities of BL. These cell lines were established by Dr. Jager (University Hospital Leiden, the Netherlands) and Dr. Albert (University of Wisconsin-Madison, WI, USA), respectively. Initially, low passage cells were seeded in a 6-well plate and then incubated at 37°C in a humidified environment supplemented with 5% CO₂. They were cultured in an RPMI-1640 medium with GlutamaxTM and a phenol red indicator (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Invitrogen), 1% penicillin/ streptomycin (Invitrogen) and 1% fungizone (Invitrogen). The cells were then passaged routinely using trypsin-EDTA (Invitrogen) when approaching 70% –80% confluency.

3.1.2 Experimental setup

On the first day of the experiment, the cells were passaged as usual. The cells were then seeded in 24 wells of a 96-well plate (Corning Inc, Corning, NY, USA; Cat no. 3603) at a concentration of 2500 cells in 200 μ l media/well using the same culture medium described above. Twelve biological replicates represented the control group and the other 12 represented the filter group. The 96-well plate was black with a clear bottom in order to allow the passage of light in one direction (up and down) without scattering to other wells. The entire plate was then placed inside the incubator overnight in order to

allow the cells to adhere to the bottom. On the second day, the media was removed and the wells were washed with Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS; Invitrogen). After washing, each cell containing well was filled with 200 µl of a serum-free RPMI-1640 medium with GlutamaxTM without phenol red indicator (Invitrogen) and supplemented with 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen) and 1% fungizone (Invitrogen). The phenolred-free RPMI will provide a colorless medium that allows the passage of the full spectrum of light without potential blocking of any wavelength. The filters were then applied (to be discussed in the next section) and the cells were then exposed to light for 3 hours daily for a total of 4 days inside a dark and clean room. After exposure, the cells were visualized through an inverted microscope in order to confirm their viability and then put back into the incubator until the next day. A thermometer was used to ensure temperature stability during the experiment. The same experimental setup was used for each filter and a cellular proliferation assay was performed after the experimental period at the end of the fourth day. Each experiment was performed in duplicates to ensure the accuracy of the results. Figure 5 shows the basic experimental setup.

3.1.3 Light filters

Three different filters were purchased from Rosco Laboratories (Rosco Laboratories Incorporation. Stamford, CT, USA). The first filter is transparent (Cat no. #00 Clear) and was used to cover the control group in each experiment to ensure that equal lux reached the cells in the control and experimental groups. The other two BL filters were used to cover the experimental group during each experiment. Each filter was selected based on its BL-filtering properties at the middle of the BL spectrum (450 nm wavelength) according to the transmission curve published by the company, filtering

either 16% or 20% of BL. Filters that filter less than 16% of BL or between 16% and 20% of BL were not commercially available. These filters were made of two different materials: polyethylene terephthalate (PET) or polycarbonate (PC). The different types of filters used in our experiments and their BL filtering properties are shown in Table 1, and the transmission curves for each filter are shown in Figure 4.

Filter number	Percentage of BL filtering
#373 Theatre Booster 3	16 %
#4307 Calcolor 7.5 Cyan	20 %

Table 1. The identification numbers of the different filters used in our experiments with

 their filtering properties for BL at 450 nm wavelength.





Figure 4. The transmission curves of the BL filters used during our experiments. (A) The transmission curve for filter #373, filters 16% of BL at 450 nm. (B) The transmission curve for filter #4307, filters 20% of BL at 450 nm. Adopted from: www.rosco.com

3.1.4 Blue light source

The cells were exposed to light using a 150-watt fiber-optic illuminator (Model: 21AC, Edmond Industrial Optics, Barrington, NJ, USA) connected to a fiber-optic light guide. Using the control panel, the level of illuminance was set at 10,000 lux, which represents the actual lux we are exposed to normally (at noon of a sunny day with scattered clouds). This illuminance was confirmed using a lux meter (PLMT12; Pyle Audio Inc., NY, USA). In addition to the previously mentioned (experimental) filters, two other filters were used during each experiment to ensure the passage of the visible spectrum only: an infrared (IR) cutoff filter (heat absorbing filter) and UV cutoff filter. The IR cut-off filter was used to prevent the heating effect of IR radiation on the cells, while the UV cut-off filter prevented any confounding effects of the non-visible short wavelength on cellular proliferation.

3.1.5 Cell proliferation assay

At the end of the fourth day, a cell proliferation assay was performed using cellcounting kit-8 (CCK-8; Dojindo Molecular Technologies Inc, Kamimashiki, Japan) according to the protocol provided with the kit. Briefly, the CCK-8 reagent was added into each of the cells containing wells in an amount equal to 10% of the medium (20 µl) with special attention not to create bubbles, as they may interfere with the reading using the plate reader. Two more wells with only media—without cells—were used as blanks. Next, the entire culture plate was placed in the incubator for 2 hours. After the designated incubation period, the number of cells in each well was determined using a multifunctional microplate reader (Infinite ® 200pro; Tecan, Männnedorf, Switzerland) with the following settings: 450 nm wavelength, bandwidth of 9 nm; number of flashes 25. The absorbance of each well was represented by optical density (OD), which is highly dependent on the amount of cells present in each well. The average OD of the blank wells was deducted from the OD of each well to remove the background effect. This assay has been to shown to have higher detection sensitivity than other assays using other tetrazolium salts. This cell proliferation assay consists of a highly water soluble tetrazolium salt (WST-8 [2-(2-methoxy-4-nitrophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)- 5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium, monosodium salt) that is reduced by intra-cellular dehydrogenases leading to the formation of an orange pigment, thereby indirectly reflecting the number of viable cells.

3.1.6 Human angiogenesis array

3.1.6.1 Experimental setup:

Based on the results of the proliferation assay, we decided to test the effect of BL filtering on the angiogenic properties of the tested cells using 20% filtration for the 92.1 cell line and 16% filtration for the UW-1 cell line. We used the same culture methods described previously with some modifications. For instance, on the first day of the experiment, we seeded 7,500 cells in each of the 24 wells of a 96-well plate using serum-containing media. We increased the number of seeded cells because these pro-angiogenic factors are excreted in low quantities, which can fall below the array's level of detection. The 24 wells were divided into 12 replicates for the control group and 12 for the filter group. The cells were then left inside the incubator overnight to allow attachment to the bottom of the wells. On the second day of the experiment, we removed the serum-

containing media and washed the wells twice using HBSS. Next, each well was filled with 100 μl of serum-free, phenol red-free RPMI-1640 medium (Invitrogen). The cells were then exposed to light using the same BL filters described previously. To make sure that the differences were not merely due to the differences in cell numbers (as we have shown that BL affects proliferation), we shortened the protocol for only 1 day of exposure (3 hours). At the end of exposure, the media from six wells of each experimental condition was collected and combined to form one biological sample. Combining the media from the other six wells formed the second sample. The same was done for the control group. Then we centrifuged each sample at a rate of 2000 rpm at 4°C. The supernatant was then collected and stored at -80°C to be used later when performing the Quantibody® human angiogenesis array. The same experimental setup was used for the other experiment using the other filter.

3.1.6.2 Quantibody® human angiogenesis array:

We tested the effect of filtering BL on the secretion of ten different proangiogenic cytokines (VEGF, Angiogenin, ANG-2, epidermal growth factor; EGF, bFGF, heparin binding EGF-like growth factor; HB-EGF, hepatocyte growth factor; HGF, Leptin, platelet derived growth factor subtype BB; PDGF-BB and placental growth factor; PIGF) by both 92.1 and UW-1 cell lines using the Quantibody® Array (RayBiotech, Norcross, GA, USA). This array is based on the multiplex sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) technology to determine the concentration of multiple cytokines at the same time with high sensitivity and specificity. Briefly, a glass slide provided with the kit consists of 16 wells of identical cytokine antibody arrays for the aforementioned pro-angiogenic compounds. Each antibody is arrayed in

quadruplicates. All conditions and controls were tested in duplicates using the samples prepared previously. The array was conducted using the protocol and the material provided with the kit. First, the glass chip device was allowed to dry inside and then outside the sealed plastic bag for a total of 2 hours. The glass chip device was then blocked using the Sample Diluent provided with the kit for 30 minutes. Meanwhile, we created serial dilutions of cytokine standards by mixing a reconstituted cytokine mix with the same Sample Diluent as described in the protocol. After blocking, 100 µl of each of the seven cytokines standards prepared and 100 µl of a control composed of only the Sample Diluent were applied to the glass chip. This step generated standard curves of pre-determined standard concentrations in order to quantify the cytokines in our samples. In addition, 100 µl from each of the two biological samples of each filter and another 100 µl from the controls of both filters were also applied to the glass chip and then incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. After the incubation period, all the samples, including the standards and the controls, were decanted and the glass chip was washed with the wash buffer provided. Then the glass chip was incubated for 1 hour with 80 µl of a reconstituted detection antibody cocktail provided with the kit and then washed with the washing buffer. After washing, the glass chip was incubated with the Cy3 equivalent dye conjugated streptavidin provided in the kit for another 1 hour and then washed afterwards. The glass chip device was then disassembled and inserted into the glass dryer/washer; it was afterwards washed with wash buffer 1 and wash buffer 2 as described in the protocol.

3.1.6.3 Slide Scanning and data analysis:

After the last washing step, the glass was dried in a slide holder by centrifuging at 1000 rpm for a total of 3 minutes. It was then sent by priority mail in a cold container and wrapped with aluminum foil for scanning and analysis at RayBiotech. A laser scanner was used to detect the fluorescent dye and the data were quantified and analyzed using the Quantibody Q-Analyzer® software. The concentrations of the different angiogenic cytokines were determined by comparing the fluorescent dye signals from either the control or the condition group with the signals from the standard dilution curves.

3.1.7 Statistical analysis

For the 92.1 cell line, the proliferation rates (filtering 20% BL versus control and filtering 16% BL versus control) and the levels of the detected pro-angiogenic cytokines (filtering 20% BL versus control) were compared. For the UW-1 cell line, the proliferation rate (filtering 16% BL versus Control) and the levels of the detected pro-angiogenic cytokines (filtering 16% BL versus control) were compared. Statistical analysis was performed using Graphpad Prism (GraphPad Inc, San Diego, CA, USA). Normality was determined using the D'Agostino - Pearson omnibus test. The Student's *t*-test was performed to compare the values between each two groups and *P*-values <0.05 were considered significant.





Figure 5. The experimental setup showing the fiber-optic illuminator and the fiber-optic guide during both open light (A) and dark room (B) conditions. Note the IR cut-off filter preventing IR rays from reaching the cells.

4 Chapter Four

4.1 Results

4.1.1 Proliferation assay

As expected based on previous studies, exposing UM cells to white light for 3 hours daily for a total of 4 days caused an increase in the proliferation rate. Moreover, filtering BL decreased the proliferation rate of both cell lines. Interestingly, both cell lines showed different sensitivities for BL filtration. For instance, filtering 16% of BL reaching the 92.1 cell line did not change the proliferation rate significantly when compared to the control with full light exposure $(1.22 \pm 0.12 \text{ versus } 1.29 \pm 0.10 \text{ OD}; P = 0.175)$. However, filtering 20% of BL caused a significant reduction in the proliferation rate compared to the control $(1.16 \pm 0.12 \text{ versus } 1.33 \pm 0.08 \text{ OD}; P < 0.01)$ (Figure. 6). Conversely, the UW-1 cell line showed a significant reduction in proliferation when filtering 16% of BL compared to full exposure to light $(1.46 \pm 0.07 \text{ versus } 1.72 \pm 0.05 \text{ OD}; P < 0.01;$ Figure. 7). Table 2 shows the effect of BL filtering on the proliferation rates of both cell lines. These results indicate that filtering 16%-20% of BL is enough to offer a protective effect.

Table 2. The effect of BL filtering on the absorbance levels (proliferation rates) of the tested cell lines.

Cell line	BL filtering level at 450 nm (%)	Average absorbance of the filter group (OD) ± SD	Average absorbance of the control group (OD) ± SD	<i>P</i> value
92.1				
	16	1.22 ± 0.12	1.29 ± 0.10	0.175
	20	1.16 ± 0.12	1.33 ± 0.08	< 0.01
UW-1				
	16	1.47 ± 0.07	1.72 ± 0.05	< 0.01

BL: blue light; OD: optical density; SD: standard deviation; nm: nanometer



Figure 6. A box-and-whisker plot showing the average absorbance for the 92.1 cell line after light exposure using cell counting kit-8 (CCK-8) proliferation assay. (A) Filtering 16% of BL did not decrease the rate of proliferation significantly (P = 0.175). (B) Filtering 20% of BL resulted in a significant reduction in the proliferation rate (as shown by the lower absorbance) when compared to the full spectrum exposure (P < 0.01).



Figure 7. A box-and-whisker plot showing the average absorbance for the UW-1 cell line after light exposure using cell counting kit-8 (CCK-8) proliferation assay. Filtering 16% of BL was sufficient to decrease the rate of proliferation significantly (P < 0.01).

4.1.2 Human angiogenesis array

Using the Quantibody[®] human angiogenesis array, four different pro-angiogenic factors (VEGF, angiogenin, leptin and PIGF) were detected in the media of both the control group and the BL filter group (filtering 20% of BL) for the 92.1 cell line. The other cytokines were not produced in detectable quantities. When comparing both groups, the BL filtered group showed decreased levels of the excreted VEGF ($1029 \pm 350 \text{ pg/ml}$ versus 1314.6 ± 259 pg/ml), angiogenin (2586.6 \pm 77.6 pg/ml versus 2764.8 \pm 327.4 pg/ml), leptin (35.7 \pm 8.5 pg/ml versus 36.1 \pm 11.4 pg/ml) and PIGF (79.3 \pm 2 pg/ml versus 100 ± 28 pg/ml); however, the changes were non-significant with P values of 0.45, 0.53, 0.97 and 0.41, respectively (Figure. 8). For the UW-1 cell line, only VEGF and angiogenin were detected in the media of both the control and the filter group (filtering 16% of BL), while the other cytokines were not produced in detectable quantities. Moreover, filtering 16% of BL decreased the production of both VEGF (357.3 ± 32.8 pg/ml versus 438.9 ± 10.1 pg/ml) and angiogenin (1777.1 ± 33.5 pg/ml versus 1919.3 \pm 2.6 pg/ml). This decrease was not significant for VEGF (P = 0.14; Figure 9); however, a trend towards a significant decrease was seen with angiogenin (P = 0.06; Figure 9). These results indicate that filtering BL may have an effect on angiogenic properties of the tested cells, which is an important step for metastasis in patients diagnosed with UM.



Figure 8. Levels of the different pro-angiogenic factors detected in the media of the 92.1 cell line after exposure to light or filtering 20% of BL. The differences between the two conditions for VEGF, angiogenin, Leptin and PIGF were not significant with *P* values of 0.45, 0.53, 0.97 and 0.41, respectively.



Figure 9. The levels of the different pro-angiogenic factors detected in the media of the UW-1 cell line after both exposure to light and filtering 16% of BL. The differences between the two conditions for both VEGF and angiogenin were not significant with P values of 0.14 and 0.06, respectively.

5 Chapter Five

5.1 Discussion

UM is the most common primary intra-ocular malignancy in adulthood and is a potentially life-threatening disease. It originates from the melanocytes of any of the uveal structures, namely the choroid, ciliary body and the iris. The age-adjusted incidence of UM is 5.1 cases per million in the United States (15). Despite the recent advances in the diagnosis and treatment of this type of cancer, up to 40% will die from liver metastasis within 10-year-period (15, 126).

There are several risk factors that increase the chances of developing UM. Fair skinned people, people with light irises, and people who find difficulty tanning, are all at risk for developing UM (19, 20). Moreover, pre-existing nevi in the choroid, especially if they are large, are capable of malignant transformation making an individual at risk for developing UM (139).

Interestingly, the blue component of white light has been linked to the development and progression of UM in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies (79, 80). In addition, Marshall et al (79) found that filtering BL using the SN60AT IOL (Alcon, Inc.), which filters 50% of BL at 450 nm, significantly decreased the proliferation rate of four different human UM cell lines. Therefore, implanting BL filtering IOLs during cataract surgery might confer protection against the development and progression of UM.

Based on the aforementioned risk factors, it is evident that different people have different risk profiles for developing UM and that a "one-size-fits-all" approach to bluelight filtering (50% at 450 nm) might not be ideal. For instance, someone with blond hair and blue eyes might require the traditional 50% filtering, but someone with dark hair and dark irises might achieve protection against UM development with less filtering, thereby subjecting themselves to fewer side effects of filtering BL. Therefore, in the present study, we hypothesized that a protective effect against BL-induced changes in UM cells can be achieved by filtering less than 50% of BL. To test this hypothesis, we decided to test the effect of filtering less than 50% of BL (450 nm) on the proliferation rates of one human UM cell line, 92.1, and one transformed uveal melanocyte cell line, UW-1. These cell lines represent both ends of the spectrum with the 92.1 cell line being characterized by high proliferative, migration and invasion potential, while the UW-1 cell line is known to have benign morphologic features and lower proliferation rates (140, 141). We noticed that filtering 20% of the BL spectrum in the 92.1 cell line significantly decreased the proliferation rate compared to full light exposure. On the other hand, filtering 16% of BL (450 nm) was enough to decrease the proliferation rate significantly of the UW-1 cell line compared to a control with full light exposure. This difference may be explained by the fact that the 92.1 is a highly malignant cell line, which makes it more vulnerable to BLinduced mutations leading to increased aggressiveness; therefore, filtering more BL (20%) was necessary to prevent these changes. However, for the UW-1, which is a transformed uveal melanocyte cell line, we needed to filter less BL (16%) to have the protective effect.

The clinical implications of our results is that we can achieve the protective effect of filtering BL using less than 50% BL filtration (between 16%–20%). This will allow patients at low risk of developing UM undergoing cataract surgery to avoid the potential

unwanted side effects reported when implanting the currently available BL filtering IOLs (50% of BL at 450 nm), such as decreased blue color perception, abnormal circadian rhythm and poor dark adaptation (109, 113, 115, 117-121). In other words, the decision of implanting an IOL with specific filtration level for BL will be based on the individualized risk of each patient for developing UM. This approach is fundamental in the practice of personalized medicine where each treatment is tailored based on the individual patient need. One way of implementing this practice clinically can be achieved by conducting a risk-profile scoring system that can be filled before the day of surgery by the attending ophthalmologist. This risk profile scoring system can predict the likelihood of a person to develop UM based on the total score given for his/her risk factors. For example, people with fair skin and light irises are at higher risk for developing UM than people with dark skin and therefore will be given a higher score. Moreover, people with fair skin and light irises who have choroidal nevi are at higher risk for developing UM than people with fair skin and light irises but without choroidal nevi. Therefore, based on the final score, a decision can be made as to which BL filtration level is needed to protect against UM development. It is worth mentioning that when considering the potential side effects of BL filtering, avoiding these side effects with less than 50% filtration is only theoretical and how much less side effects we can get with only 16% or 20% BL filtration is unknown. In order to know so, retrospective clinical studies with IOLs that filter less than 50% BL are needed.

When discussing BL as a risk factor for developing UM, the concept of BL filtering should be extended beyond just patients undergoing cataract surgery and the implantation of BL filtering IOLs. While it is known that UM develops in old people and

that as we age, our lens yellows and thereby naturally filters BL (40, 42), we must consider that there are millions of people that have already implanted with IOLs that do not filter BL. For those individuals, sporting sunglasses with built-in BL-filtering properties should be a serious consideration. Moreover, for certain occupations with high emission for UV and BL such as welding, wearing protective shields is highly recommended (142).

In the present study, we did not use a control protected from light, as was done by Marshal et al. in their previous work (79). This decision was made because both groups, the control and the condition groups, should be tested under a similar environment and shielding the control group from light will completely alter this environment by increasing humidity and reducing temperature. Moreover, our eyes are constantly exposed to light (except during sleep), thus we believe that having controls with fullspectrum light exposure represent a more realistic scenario.

In addition to their high proliferation rate, UM cells depend on angiogenesis as an important step for metastasis. In fact, UM cells only metastasize hematogenously (124, 125). Therefore, the idea of targeting angiogenesis is appealing for decreasing metastasis rates. In 2010, an *in vivo* model showed that targeting VEGF using bevacizumab suppressed primary tumor growth and decreased the number of liver micrometastases in a dose dependent manner (143). Accordingly, in addition to measuring proliferation rates, we also tested the effect of BL filtering on the secretion of different pro-angiogenic molecules by the tested cell lines, which, to the best of our knowledge, is the first study to do so. Both cell lines are known to synthesize and excrete various pro-angiogenic cytokines including VEGF, angiogenin, EGF and HB-EGF (144). Of the ten pro-

65

angiogenic cytokines tested, only four were detected in the media of the cultured 92.1 cell line: VEGF, angiogenin, leptin and PIGF. Conversely, only two pro-angiogenic factors were detected in the media of the UW-cell line: VEGF and angiogenin. Moreover, although we seeded the same number of cells (7,500 cells/well) for both cell lines, 92.1 cell line showed increased baseline levels of both VEGF and angiogenin compared to the UW-1 cell line. These differences could be related to the high migratory and metastatic potential of the former cell line (140, 141). Interestingly, filtering 20% and 16% of BL for the 92.1 and the UW-1 cell lines, respectively, decreased levels of excreted proangiogenic cytokines. Although these changes were not significant, angiogenin excreted by the UW-1 cell line was very close to meeting the statistical threshold. These results, for the first time, indicate the effect of BL and BL filtering on the levels of the different pro-angiogenic factors excreted by UM cell lines in culture. Combined with the protective effect of decreasing the proliferation rate, BL filtering may also protect against metastasis by decreasing the angiogenic potential of UM cells. Therefore, BL filtering IOLs for patients with high-risk profiles for developing UM, such as patients with large choroidal nevi, might have a tangible impact on survival. However, to validate these claims, further *in vivo* studies using animal models are warranted.

Throughout our study, we attempted to create a light exposure environment that simulates real life BL exposure. By comparison, in Marshal et al. experiments (79), cells were exposed to pure blue light; however, outside of very specific work-related conditions (such as welding), this scenario is unrealistic. In addition, using a thermometer during each experiment ensured that the exposure environment was monitored for possible temperature alterations. Another strength for our model is our proliferation assay choice. Prior to using CCK-8, we used a sulforhodamine B assay to estimate the number of cells present in a given well. However, this assay is time consuming and requires multiple steps, all of which are subject to error, which was evident during our test experiments. Using CCK-8, on the other hand, involves only adding the chemical reagent to the well of interest and then incubating the experimental plate from 1–4 hours before reading the OD. Therefore, our model improved on previously studied models and we believe that, to date, it is the gold standard *in vitro* model for determining the effect of BL on UM cells.

Despite all the strengths of our model, it still suffers from some limitations. For example, the fiber-optic light source used in our experiment was not compatible for use inside the incubator. As a result, cells were stressed during exposure time. Moreover, exposing cells to light inside the incubator would have allowed us to increase exposure time, representing a chronic, instead of acute, situation, which is more representative of real life exposure.

It is clear from our results that filtering 16%-20% of BL can provide a protective effect against the development and progression of UM. This will allow customizing each BL filtering IOL based on the risk profile of each patient for developing UM. Moreover, the changes we made to the previously reported *in vitro* model testing the effect of BL on UM cells better simulate a real life exposure scenario. In addition, this study is the first to demonstrate the effect of BL and BL filtering on the angiogenic properties of UM cells.

5.2 Conclusion

By developing and implementing an *in vitro* BL exposure model, we showed that filtering BL decreases the proliferation rates of two different human UM cell lines, 92.1 and UW-1. However, it was apparent that both cell lines had different sensitivities when it comes to the percentage of BL filtered. In addition, BL filtering also resulted in a non-significant decrease in the secretion of various pro-angiogenic factors by both cell lines.

Based on the results of the current study and in line with the concept of personalized medicine, we recommend that individuals can be offered BL filtering IOLs with different filtering properties based on their individualized risk for developing UM. This will decrease the unnecessary associated side effects that, while rare, some people may experience with BL filtering, while maintaining the same protective effect against UM pathogenesis and progression.

Future perspectives involve manufacturing IOLs with specific BL filtering properties. Based on our results, the protective effect against aggressive UM changes was achieved by filtering 16% and 20% of BL, indicating that we may not need yellow IOLs that filter more than 20% of BL. In fact, these numbers can be used as reference points during the manufacturing process of these IOLs. After manufacturing these customized IOLs, the next step will be testing their protective effect against the development and progression of UM using an *in vitro* model. Moreover, we believe that an animal model using the same lenses is important to validate any result. Another future perspective, as discussed previously, is the development of risk-profile scoring system. This will make the clinical application of personalized medicine in regards to BL filtering IOLs more feasible. With this scoring system, patients at high risk of developing UM can be offered more BL filtration than people with lesser risk.

Refrences:

1. Risko EF, Anderson NC, Lanthier S, Kingstone A. Curious eyes: individual differences in personality predict eye movement behavior in scene-viewing. Cognition. 2012;122(1):86-90.

 Crewe JM, Morlet N, Morgan WH, Spilsbury K, Mukhtar A, Clark A, et al. Quality of life of the most severely vision-impaired. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol. 2011;39(4):336-43.

3. Anatomy of the eye. Accessed July 30th, 2016 [Available from: https://nei.nih.gov/photo/anatomy-of-eye].

4. Sarna T. Properties and function of the ocular melanin--a photobiophysical view.J Photochem Photobiol B. 1992;12(3):215-58.

JA S. Diagnosis and management of intraocular tumors. St. Louis: CV Mosby;
 1983.

6. Yanoff M FB. Ocular pathology. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: JB Lippincott Co; 1989.

7. Grin JM, Grant-Kels JM, Grin CM, Berke A, Kels BD. Ocular melanomas and melanocytic lesions of the eye. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1998;38(5 Pt 1):716-30.

8. Jakobiec FA. Ocular anatomy, embryology, and teratology: Harper & Row; 1982.

9. Hu DN, Savage HE, Roberts JE. Uveal melanocytes, ocular pigment epithelium, and Muller cells in culture: in vitro toxicology. Int J Toxicol. 2002;21(6):465-72.

10. Bok D. The retinal pigment epithelium: a versatile partner in vision. J Cell Sci Suppl. 1993;17:189-95.

11. Ishida K, Yoshimura N, Yoshida M, Honda Y, Murase K, Hayashi K. Expression of neurotrophic factors in cultured human retinal pigment epithelial cells. Curr Eye Res. 1997;16(2):96-101.

12. Coroi M, Mutiu G, Rosca E, Burta L, Ilin R, Manole F. Choroidal melanocytes and associated pathology. Rom J Morphol Embryol. 2006;47(3):269-72.

 Weiter JJ, Delori FC, Wing GL, Fitch KA. Retinal pigment epithelial lipofuscin and melanin and choroidal melanin in human eyes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 1986;27(2):145-52.

70

14. McLaughlin CC, Wu XC, Jemal A, Martin HJ, Roche LM, Chen VW. Incidence of noncutaneous melanomas in the U.S. Cancer. 2005;103(5):1000-7.

15. Singh AD, Turell ME, Topham AK. Uveal melanoma: trends in incidence, treatment, and survival. Ophthalmology. 2011;118(9):1881-5.

16. Chang AE, Karnell LH, Menck HR. The National Cancer Data Base report on cutaneous and noncutaneous melanoma: a summary of 84,836 cases from the past decade. The American College of Surgeons Commission on Cancer and the American Cancer Society. Cancer. 1998;83(8):1664-78.

Vajdic CM, Kricker A, Giblin M, McKenzie J, Aitken J, Giles GG, et al.
 Incidence of ocular melanoma in Australia from 1990 to 1998. Int J Cancer.
 2003;105(1):117-22.

18. Singh P, Singh A. Choroidal melanoma. Oman J Ophthalmol. 2012;5(1):3-9.

19. Weis E, Shah CP, Lajous M, Shields JA, Shields CL. The association of cutaneous and iris nevi with uveal melanoma: a meta-analysis. Ophthalmology. 2009;116(3):536-43 e2.

20. Weis E, Shah CP, Lajous M, Shields JA, Shields CL. The association between host susceptibility factors and uveal melanoma: a meta-analysis. Arch Ophthalmol. 2006;124(1):54-60.

21. Cress RD, Holly EA. Incidence of cutaneous melanoma among non-Hispanic whites, Hispanics, Asians, and blacks: an analysis of california cancer registry data, 1988-93. Cancer Causes Control. 1997;8(2):246-52.

22. Ganley JP, Comstock GW. Benign nevi and malignant melanomas of the choroid. Am J Ophthalmol. 1973;76(1):19-25.

23. Sumich P, Mitchell P, Wang JJ. Choroidal nevi in a white population: the Blue Mountains Eye Study. Arch Ophthalmol. 1998;116(5):645-50.

24. Singh AD, Kalyani P, Topham A. Estimating the risk of malignant transformation of a choroidal nevus. Ophthalmology. 2005;112(10):1784-9.

25. Kivela T, Eskelin S. Transformation of nevus to melanoma. Ophthalmology.2006;113(5):887-8 e1.

26. Shields CL, Furuta M, Berman EL, Zahler JD, Hoberman DM, Dinh DH, et al. Choroidal nevus transformation into melanoma: analysis of 2514 consecutive cases. Arch Ophthalmol. 2009;127(8):981-7.

 Shields CL, Shields JA, Kiratli H, De Potter P, Cater JR. Risk factors for growth and metastasis of small choroidal melanocytic lesions. Ophthalmology. 1995;102(9):1351-61.

28. Shields CL, Cater J, Shields JA, Singh AD, Santos MC, Carvalho C. Combination of clinical factors predictive of growth of small choroidal melanocytic tumors. Arch Ophthalmol. 2000;118(3):360-4.

29. Eskelin S, Kivela T. Mode of presentation and time to treatment of uveal melanoma in Finland. Br J Ophthalmol. 2002;86(3):333-8.

Laver NV, McLaughlin ME, Duker JS. Ocular melanoma. Arch Pathol Lab Med.
 2010;134(12):1778-84.

31. Accuracy of diagnosis of choroidal melanomas in the Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study. COMS report no. 1. Arch Ophthalmol. 1990;108(9):1268-73.

32. Callender GR. Malignant melanotic tumors of the eye: a study of histologic types in 111 cases. Trans Am Acad Ophthalmol Otolaryngol. 1931;36:11.

33. McLean IW, Zimmerman LE, Evans RM. Reappraisal of Callender's spindle a type of malignant melanoma of choroid and ciliary body. Am J Ophthalmol. 1978;86(4):557-64.

 McLean IW, Foster WD, Zimmerman LE, Gamel JW. Modifications of Callender's classification of uveal melanoma at the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology. Am J Ophthalmol. 1983;96(4):502-9.

35. Boldt HC, Melia BM, Liu JC, Reynolds SM, Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study G. I-125 brachytherapy for choroidal melanoma photographic and angiographic abnormalities: the Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study: COMS Report No. 30. Ophthalmology. 2009;116(1):106-15 e1.

36. Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study G. The COMS randomized trial of iodine 125 brachytherapy for choroidal melanoma: V. Twelve-year mortality rates and prognostic factors: COMS report No. 28. Arch Ophthalmol. 2006;124(12):1684-93.
Boettner E A, Wolter. J,R. Transmission of the ocular media. Invest Ophthalmol. 1962;1:7.

38. Wittenberg S. Solar radiation and the eye: a review of knowledge relevant to eye care. Am J Optom Physiol Opt. 1986;63(8):676-89.

39. Griswold MS, Stark WS. Scotopic spectral sensitivity of phakic and aphakic observers extending into the near ultraviolet. Vision Res. 1992;32(9):1739-43.

40. Mellerio J. Yellowing of the human lens: nuclear and cortical contributions. Vision Res. 1987;27(9):1581-7.

41. Norren DV, Vos JJ. Spectral transmission of the human ocular media. Vision Res. 1974;14(11):1237-44.

42. Weale RA. Age and the transmittance of the human crystalline lens. J Physiol. 1988;395:577-87.

43. Bergmanson JP, Sheldon TM. Ultraviolet radiation revisited. CLAO J. 1997;23(3):196-204.

44. Ruffolo JJ, Jr., Ham WT, Jr., Mueller HA, Millen JE. Photochemical lesions in the primate retina under conditions of elevated blood oxygen. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 1984;25(8):893-8.

45. Beatty S, Koh H, Phil M, Henson D, Boulton M. The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of age-related macular degeneration. Survey of ophthalmology. 2000;45(2):115-34.

46. Mainster MA. Light and macular degeneration: a biophysical and clinical perspective. Eye (Lond). 1987;1 (Pt 2):304-10.

47. Marshall J. The ageing retina: physiology or pathology. Eye (Lond). 1987;1 (Pt 2):282-95.

48. Roberts JE. Ocular phototoxicity. J Photochem Photobiol B. 2001;64(2-3):136-43.

49. Bron AJ, Vrensen GF, Koretz J, Maraini G, Harding JJ. The ageing lens. Ophthalmologica. 2000;214(1):86-104.

50. Lerman S. An experimental and clinical evaluation of lens transparency and aging. J Gerontol. 1983;38(3):293-301.

51. Dillon J, Zheng L, Merriam JC, Gaillard ER. Transmission of light to the aging human retina: possible implications for age related macular degeneration. Exp Eye Res. 2004;79(6):753-9.

52. Gaillard ER, Zheng L, Merriam JC, Dillon J. Age-related changes in the absorption characteristics of the primate lens. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2000;41(6):1454-9.

53. Hood BD, Garner B, Truscott RJ. Human lens coloration and aging. Evidence for crystallin modification by the major ultraviolet filter, 3-hydroxy-kynurenine O-beta-D-glucoside. J Biol Chem. 1999;274(46):32547-50.

54. Artigas JM, Felipe A, Navea A, Fandino A, Artigas C. Spectral transmission of the human crystalline lens in adult and elderly persons: color and total transmission of visible light. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2012;53(7):4076-84.

55. Broendsted AE, Hansen MS, Lund-Andersen H, Sander B, Kessel L. Human lens transmission of blue light: a comparison of autofluorescence-based and direct spectral transmission determination. Ophthalmic Res. 2011;46(3):118-24.

56. Cruickshanks KJ, Klein R, Klein BE, Nondahl DM. Sunlight and the 5-year incidence of early age-related maculopathy: the beaver dam eye study. Arch Ophthalmol. 2001;119(2):246-50.

57. Kraff MC, Sanders DR, Jampol LM, Lieberman HL. Effect of an ultravioletfiltering intraocular lens on cystoid macular edema. Ophthalmology. 1985;92(3):366-9.

58. Mainster MA. Spectral transmittance of intraocular lenses and retinal damage from intense light sources. Am J Ophthalmol. 1978;85(2):167-70.

59. Mainster MA. Solar retinitis, photic maculopathy and the pseudophakic eye. J Am Intraocul Implant Soc. 1978;4(3):84-6.

60. Hurst EA, Harbour JW, Cornelius LA. Ocular melanoma: a review and the relationship to cutaneous melanoma. Arch Dermatol. 2003;139(8):1067-73.

61. Char DH, Jerome L, McCoy JL, Herberman RB. Cell-mediated immunity to melanoma-associated antigens in patients with ocular malignant melanoma. Am J Ophthalmol. 1975;79(5):812-6.

62. Gilchrest BA, Eller MS, Geller AC, Yaar M. The pathogenesis of melanoma induced by ultraviolet radiation. N Engl J Med. 1999;340(17):1341-8.

74

63. English DR, Armstrong BK, Kricker A, Fleming C. Sunlight and cancer. Cancer Causes Control. 1997;8(3):271-83.

64. Oliveria SA, Saraiya M, Geller AC, Heneghan MK, Jorgensen C. Sun exposure and risk of melanoma. Arch Dis Child. 2006;91(2):131-8.

Rees JL. The melanoma epidemic: reality and artefact. BMJ.
 1996;312(7024):137-8.

 Shah CP, Weis E, Lajous M, Shields JA, Shields CL. Intermittent and chronic ultraviolet light exposure and uveal melanoma: a meta-analysis. Ophthalmology. 2005;112(9):1599-607.

67. Li W, Judge H, Gragoudas ES, Seddon JM, Egan KM. Patterns of tumor initiation in choroidal melanoma. Cancer Res. 2000;60(14):3757-60.

Vajdic CM, Kricker A, Giblin M, McKenzie J, Aitken J, Giles GG, et al. Sun exposure predicts risk of ocular melanoma in Australia. Int J Cancer. 2002;101(2):175-82.

69. Tucker MA, Shields JA, Hartge P, Augsburger J, Hoover RN, Fraumeni JF, Jr. Sunlight exposure as risk factor for intraocular malignant melanoma. N Engl J Med. 1985;313(13):789-92.

70. Schwartz LH, Ferrand R, Boelle PY, Maylin C, D'Hermies F, Virmont J. Lack of correlation between the location of choroidal melanoma and ultraviolet-radiation dose distribution. Radiat Res. 1997;147(4):451-6.

71. Swerdlow AJ, Storm HH, Sasieni PD. Risks of second primary malignancy in patients with cutaneous and ocular melanoma in Denmark, 1943-1989. Int J Cancer. 1995;61(6):773-9.

72. Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, Stephens P, Edkins S, Clegg S, et al. Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature. 2002;417(6892):949-54.

73. Besaratinia A, Pfeifer GP. Sunlight ultraviolet irradiation and BRAF V600 mutagenesis in human melanoma. Hum Mutat. 2008;29(8):983-91.

74. Pfeifer GP, Besaratinia A. UV wavelength-dependent DNA damage and human non-melanoma and melanoma skin cancer. Photochem Photobiol Sci. 2012;11(1):90-7.

75. Cohen Y, Rosenbaum E, Begum S, Goldenberg D, Esche C, Lavie O, et al. Exon 15 BRAF mutations are uncommon in melanomas arising in nonsun-exposed sites. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10(10):3444-7.

 Janssen CS, Sibbett R, Henriquez FL, McKay IC, Kemp EG, Roberts F. The T1799A point mutation is present in posterior uveal melanoma. Br J Cancer. 2008;99(10):1673-7.

77. Henriquez F, Janssen C, Kemp EG, Roberts F. The T1799A BRAF mutation is present in iris melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2007;48(11):4897-900.

78. Okuno T, Saito H, Ojima J. Evaluation of blue-light hazards from various light sources. Dev Ophthalmol. 2002;35:104-12.

79. Marshall JC, Gordon KD, McCauley CS, de Souza Filho JP, Burnier MN. The effect of blue light exposure and use of intraocular lenses on human uveal melanoma cell lines. Melanoma Res. 2006;16(6):537-41.

80. Di Cesare S, Maloney S, Fernandes BF, Martins C, Marshall JC, Antecka E, et al. The effect of blue light exposure in an ocular melanoma animal model. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2009;28:48.

81. Manning WS, Jr., Greenlee PG, Norton JN. Ocular melanoma in a Long Evans rat. Contemp Top Lab Anim Sci. 2004;43(1):44-6.

82. Ge YR, Tian N, Lu Y, Wu Y, Hu QR, Huang ZP. Occupational cooking and risk of uveal melanoma: a meta-analysis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2012;13(10):4927-30.

 Dennery PA, Seidman DS, Stevenson DK. Neonatal hyperbilirubinemia. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(8):581-90.

84. Cremer RJ, Perryman PW, Richards DH. Influence of light on the hyperbilirubinaemia of infants. Lancet. 1958;1(7030):1094-7.

85. Csoma Z, Hencz P, Orvos H, Kemeny L, Dobozy A, Dosa-Racz E, et al. Neonatal blue-light phototherapy could increase the risk of dysplastic nevus development. Pediatrics. 2007;119(5):1036-7; author reply 7-8.

Matichard E, Le Henanff A, Sanders A, Leguyadec J, Crickx B, Descamps V.
 Effect of neonatal phototherapy on melanocytic nevus count in children. Arch Dermatol.
 2006;142(12):1599-604.

87. King A, Gottlieb E, Brooks DG, Murphy MP, Dunaief JL. Mitochondria-derived reactive oxygen species mediate blue light-induced death of retinal pigment epithelial cells. Photochem Photobiol. 2004;79(5):470-5.

88. Roehlecke C, Schaller A, Knels L, Funk RH. The influence of sublethal blue light exposure on human RPE cells. Mol Vis. 2009;15:1929-38.

89. Wu J, Seregard S, Spangberg B, Oskarsson M, Chen E. Blue light induced apoptosis in rat retina. Eye (Lond). 1999;13 (Pt 4):577-83.

90. Seko Y, Pang J, Tokoro T, Ichinose S, Mochizuki M. Blue light-induced apoptosis in cultured retinal pigment epithelium cells of the rat. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2001;239(1):47-52.

91. Godley BF, Shamsi FA, Liang FQ, Jarrett SG, Davies S, Boulton M. Blue light induces mitochondrial DNA damage and free radical production in epithelial cells. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(22):21061-6.

92. Narimatsu T, Negishi K, Miyake S, Hirasawa M, Osada H, Kurihara T, et al. Blue light-induced inflammatory marker expression in the retinal pigment epithelium-choroid of mice and the protective effect of a yellow intraocular lens material in vivo. Exp Eye Res. 2015;132:48-51.

93. Chiarelli-Neto O, Ferreira AS, Martins WK, Pavani C, Severino D, Faiao-FloresF, et al. Melanin photosensitization and the effect of visible light on epithelial cells. PLoSOne. 2014;9(11):e113266.

94. Shaban H, Richter C. A2E and blue light in the retina: the paradigm of age-related macular degeneration. Biol Chem. 2002;383(3-4):537-45.

95. Sparrow JR, Nakanishi K, Parish CA. The lipofuscin fluorophore A2E mediates blue light-induced damage to retinal pigmented epithelial cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2000;41(7):1981-9.

96. Ames BN. Dietary carcinogens and anticarcinogens. Oxygen radicals and degenerative diseases. Science. 1983;221(4617):1256-64.

97. Denat L, Kadekaro AL, Marrot L, Leachman SA, Abdel-Malek ZA. Melanocytes as instigators and victims of oxidative stress. J Invest Dermatol. 2014;134(6):1512-8.

98. Mainster MA, Sparrow JR. How much blue light should an IOL transmit? Br J Ophthalmol. 2003;87(12):1523-9.

77

Ham WT, Jr., Mueller HA, Ruffolo JJ, Jr., Clarke AM. Sensitivity of the retina to radiation damage as a function of wavelength. Photochem Photobiol. 1979;29(4):735-43.
Ham WT, Jr., Mueller HA, Sliney DH. Retinal sensitivity to damage from short wavelength light. Nature. 1976;260(5547):153-5.

101. Pautler EL, Morita M, Beezley D. Reversible and irreversible blue light damage to the isolated, mammalian pigment epithelium. Prog Clin Biol Res. 1989;314:555-67.

102. Putting BJ, Van Best JA, Vrensen GF, Oosterhuis JA. Blue-light-induced dysfunction of the blood-retinal barrier at the pigment epithelium in albino versus pigmented rabbits. Exp Eye Res. 1994;58(1):31-40.

103. Klein R, Klein BE, Cruickshanks KJ. The prevalence of age-related maculopathy by geographic region and ethnicity. Prog Retin Eye Res. 1999;18(3):371-89.

104. Klaver CC, Assink JJ, van Leeuwen R, Wolfs RC, Vingerling JR, Stijnen T, et al. Incidence and progression rates of age-related maculopathy: the Rotterdam Study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2001;42(10):2237-41.

105. Wong TY, Chakravarthy U, Klein R, Mitchell P, Zlateva G, Buggage R, et al. The natural history and prognosis of neovascular age-related macular degeneration: a systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis. Ophthalmology. 2008;115(1):116-26.

106. Lim LS, Mitchell P, Seddon JM, Holz FG, Wong TY. Age-related macular degeneration. Lancet. 2012;379(9827):1728-38.

107. Wong WL, Su X, Li X, Cheung CM, Klein R, Cheng CY, et al. Global prevalence of age-related macular degeneration and disease burden projection for 2020 and 2040: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2014;2(2):e106-16.

108. Henderson BA, Grimes KJ. Blue-blocking IOLs: a complete review of the literature. Survey of ophthalmology. 2010;55(3):284-9.

109. Mainster MA, Turner PL. Blue-blocking IOLs decrease photoreception without providing significant photoprotection. Survey of ophthalmology. 2010;55(3):272-89.

110. Edwards KH, Gibson GA. Intraocular lens short wavelength light filtering. Clin Exp Optom. 2010;93(6):390-9.

111. Symes RJ, Cuthbertson FM. Blue-blocking intraocular implants should be used routinely during phacoemulsification surgery--yes. Eye (Lond). 2012;26(11):1397-9.

78

112. Yuan Z, Reinach P, Yuan J. Contrast sensitivity and color vision with a yellow intraocular len. Am J Ophthalmol. 2004;138(1):138-40.

113. Artigas JM, Felipe A, Navea A, Artigas C, Garcia-Domene MC. Spectral transmittance of intraocular lenses under natural and artificial illumination: criteria analysis for choosing a suitable filter. Ophthalmology. 2011;118(1):3-8.

114. Brockmann C, Schulz M, Laube T. Transmittance characteristics of ultraviolet and blue-light-filtering intraocular lenses. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2008;34(7):1161-6.

115. Pons A, Delgado D, Campos J. Determination of the action spectrum of the bluelight hazard for different intraocular lenses. J Opt Soc Am A Opt Image Sci Vis. 2007;24(6):1545-50.

116. Schwiegerling J. Blue-light-absorbing lenses and their effect on scotopic vision. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2006;32(1):141-4.

117. Werner JS. Night vision in the elderly: consequences for seeing through a "blue filtering" intraocular lens. Br J Ophthalmol. 2005;89(11):1518-21.

118. Mainster MA. Violet and blue light blocking intraocular lenses: photoprotection versus photoreception. Br J Ophthalmol. 2006;90(6):784-92.

119. Hankins MW, Peirson SN, Foster RG. Melanopsin: an exciting photopigment.Trends Neurosci. 2008;31(1):27-36.

120. Ruby NF, Brennan TJ, Xie X, Cao V, Franken P, Heller HC, et al. Role of melanopsin in circadian responses to light. Science. 2002;298(5601):2211-3.

121. Shah SA, Miller KM. Explantation of an AcrySof Natural intraocular lens because of a color vision disturbance. Am J Ophthalmol. 2005;140(5):941-2.

122. Meckley LM, Neumann PJ. Personalized medicine: factors influencing reimbursement. Health Policy. 2010;94(2):91-100.

123. Nishida N, Yano H, Nishida T, Kamura T, Kojiro M. Angiogenesis in cancer. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2006;2(3):213-9.

124. Rajpal S, Moore R, Karakousis CP. Survival in metastatic ocular melanoma. Cancer. 1983;52(2):334-6.

125. Char DH. Metastatic choroidal melanoma. Am J Ophthalmol. 1978;86(1):76-80.

126. Hawkins BS, Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study G. The Collaborative Ocular Melanoma Study (COMS) randomized trial of pre-enucleation radiation of large

choroidal melanoma: IV. Ten-year mortality findings and prognostic factors. COMS report number 24. Am J Ophthalmol. 2004;138(6):936-51.

127. Singh AD, Topham A. Survival rates with uveal melanoma in the United States:1973-1997. Ophthalmology. 2003;110(5):962-5.

128. Frenkel S, Nir I, Hendler K, Lotem M, Eid A, Jurim O, et al. Long-term survival of uveal melanoma patients after surgery for liver metastases. Br J Ophthalmol. 2009;93(8):1042-6.

129. Mariani P, Piperno-Neumann S, Servois V, Berry MG, Dorval T, Plancher C, et al. Surgical management of liver metastases from uveal melanoma: 16 years' experience at the Institut Curie. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35(11):1192-7.

130. Boyd SR, Tan D, Bunce C, Gittos A, Neale MH, Hungerford JL, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor is elevated in ocular fluids of eyes harbouring uveal melanoma: identification of a potential therapeutic window. Br J Ophthalmol. 2002;86(4):448-52.

131. Notting IC, Missotten GS, Sijmons B, Boonman ZF, Keunen JE, van der PluijmG. Angiogenic profile of uveal melanoma. Curr Eye Res. 2006;31(9):775-85.

 Logan P, Burnier J, Burnier MN, Jr. Vascular endothelial growth factor expression and inhibition in uveal melanoma cell lines. Ecancermedicalscience. 2013;7:336.

133. el Filali M, Missotten GS, Maat W, Ly LV, Luyten GP, van der Velden PA, et al.
Regulation of VEGF-A in uveal melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2010;51(5):2329-37.

 Ijland SA, Jager MJ, Heijdra BM, Westphal JR, Peek R. Expression of angiogenic and immunosuppressive factors by uveal melanoma cell lines. Melanoma Res. 1999;9(5):445-50.

135. Crosby MB, Yang H, Gao W, Zhang L, Grossniklaus HE. Serum vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) levels correlate with number and location of micrometastases in a murine model of uveal melanoma. Br J Ophthalmol.

2011;95(1):112-7.

 Yanagi Y, Inoue Y, Iriyama A, Jang WD. Effects of yellow intraocular lenses on light-induced upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2006;32(9):1540-4. 137. Kernt M, Neubauer AS, Liegl R, Eibl KH, Alge CS, Lackerbauer CA, et al. Cytoprotective effects of a blue light-filtering intraocular lens on human retinal pigment epithelium by reducing phototoxic effects on vascular endothelial growth factor-alpha, Bax, and Bcl-2 expression. J Cataract Refract Surg. 2009;35(2):354-62.

138. Hui S, Yi L, Fengling QL. Effects of light exposure and use of intraocular lens on retinal pigment epithelial cells in vitro. Photochem Photobiol. 2009;85(4):966-9.

139. Li HK, Shields CL, Mashayekhi A, Randolph JD, Bailey T, Burnbaum J, et al.Giant choroidal nevus clinical features and natural course in 322 cases. Ophthalmology.2010;117(2):324-33.

140. Marshall JC, Caissie AL, Callejo SA, Antecka E, Burnier Jr MN. Cell proliferation profile of five human uveal melanoma cell lines of different metastatic potential. Pathobiology. 2004;71(5):241-5.

141. Diebold Y, Blanco G, Saornil MA, Fernandez N, Lazaro MC. Morphologic and immunocytochemical characterization of four human uveal cell lines (melanoma- and melanocytes-derived). Curr Eye Res. 1997;16(5):487-95.

142. Okuno T, Ojima J, Saito H. Blue-light hazard from CO2 arc welding of mild steel. Ann Occup Hyg. 2010;54(3):293-8.

143. Yang H, Jager MJ, Grossniklaus HE. Bevacizumab suppression of establishment of micrometastases in experimental ocular melanoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2010;51(6):2835-42.

144. Logan PT, Miyamoto C, Granner TJ, Tavares ACF, Cesare SD, Jr MNB. The Effects of Bevacizumab on the In Vitro Characteristics of Uveal Melanoma Cell Lines. Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science. 2011;52(14):1448-.